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PART I.  FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1.  Financial Statements
<TABLE>
MUELLER INDUSTRIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(Unaudited)
(In thousands, except per share data)
<CAPTION>
                                                   For the Quarter Ended
                                              September 26,     September 27,



                                                  1998              1997
<S>                                            <C>               <C>
Net sales                                      $  212,746        $  229,133

Cost of goods sold                                163,952           181,376
                                                ---------         ---------
   Gross profit                                    48,794            47,757

Depreciation and amortization                       5,650             5,593
Selling, general, and
   administrative expense                          17,692            15,120
                                                ---------         ---------
   Operating income                                25,452            27,044

Interest expense                                   (1,158)           (1,818)
Environmental reserves                                  -            (1,100)
Other income, net                                   1,809             1,661
                                                ---------         ---------
   Income before income taxes                      26,103            25,787

Current income tax expense                         (9,666)           (8,217)
Deferred income tax benefit                         2,328               481
                                                ---------         ---------
   Total income tax expense                        (7,338)           (7,736)
                                                ---------         ---------

Net income                                     $   18,765        $   18,051
                                                =========         =========

Weighted average shares
   for basic earnings per share                    35,689            35,015
Effect of dilutive stock options                    4,111             4,268
                                                ---------         ---------
Adjusted weighted average shares
   for diluted earnings per share                  39,800            39,283
                                                ---------         ---------

Basic earnings per share                       $     0.53        $     0.52
                                                =========         =========

Diluted earnings per share                     $     0.47        $     0.46
                                                =========         =========

<FN>
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
</TABLE>
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<TABLE>
MUELLER INDUSTRIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(Unaudited)
(In thousands, except per share data)
<CAPTION>
                                                 For the Nine-Months Ended
                                              September 26,     September 27,
                                                  1998              1997
<S>                                            <C>               <C>
Net sales                                      $  665,265        $  645,936

Cost of goods sold                                512,927           509,845
                                                ---------         ---------
   Gross profit                                   152,338           136,091

Depreciation and amortization                      16,923            15,409
Selling, general, and
   administrative expense                          53,946            45,850
                                                ---------         ---------
   Operating income                                81,469            74,832

Interest expense                                   (3,701)           (4,114)
Environmental reserves                               (600)           (3,100)
Other income, net                                   6,513             4,857
                                                ---------         ---------
   Income before income taxes                      83,681            72,475

Current income tax expense                        (25,908)          (21,874)
Deferred income tax expense                           (33)             (453)
                                                ---------         ---------
   Total income tax expense                       (25,941)          (22,327)
                                                ---------         ---------

Net income                                     $   57,740        $   50,148
                                                =========         =========



Weighted average shares
   for basic earnings per share                    35,338            34,991
Effect of dilutive stock options                    4,348             4,217
                                                ---------         ---------
Adjusted weighted average shares
   for diluted earnings per share                  39,686            39,208
                                                ---------         ---------

Basic earnings per share                       $     1.63        $     1.43
                                                =========         =========

Diluted earnings per share                     $     1.45        $     1.28
                                                =========         =========

<FN>
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
</TABLE>
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<TABLE>
MUELLER INDUSTRIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Unaudited)
(In thousands)
<CAPTION>
                                    September 26, 1998       December 27, 1997
<S>                                      <C>                     <C>
Assets

Current assets:
   Cash and cash equivalents             $   62,121              $   69,978

   Accounts receivable, less allowance
     for doubtful accounts of $3,970 in
     1998 and $3,680 in 1997                141,769                 128,902

   Inventories:
     Raw material and supplies               18,366                  19,960
     Work-in-process                         21,485                  20,283
     Finished goods                          70,281                  57,531
     Gold                                     7,547                     407
                                          ---------               ---------
   Total inventories                        117,679                  98,181
 
   Current deferred income taxes              4,793                   5,023
   Other current assets                       5,382                   6,967
                                          ---------               ---------
     Total current assets                   331,744                 309,051

Property, plant and equipment, net          294,370                 260,364
Deferred income taxes                         8,461                   7,837
Other assets                                 64,708                  33,524
                                          ---------               ---------
                                         $  699,283              $  610,776
                                          =========               =========

<FN>
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
</TABLE>
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<TABLE>
MUELLER INDUSTRIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS



(Unaudited)
(In thousands, except share data)
<CAPTION>
                                    September 26, 1998       December 27, 1997
<S>                                      <C>                     <C>
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity

Current liabilities:
   Current portion of long-term debt     $   18,187              $   18,980
   Accounts payable                          34,573                  30,530
   Accrued wages and other employee costs    21,103                  21,095
   Other current liabilities                 45,551                  29,952
                                          ---------               ---------
     Total current liabilities              119,414                 100,557

Long-term debt                               56,223                  53,113
Pension and postretirement liabilities       13,225                  14,222
Environmental reserves                        9,118                  10,368
Deferred income taxes                         2,191                   2,040
Other noncurrent liabilities                 13,901                  11,745
                                          ---------               ---------
     Total liabilities                      214,072                 192,045
                                          ---------               ---------

Minority interest in subsidiaries               390                     691

Stockholders' equity:
   Preferred stock-shares authorized
     4,985,000; none outstanding                  -                       -
   Series A junior participating preferred
     stock-$1.00 par value; shares
     authorized 15,000; none outstanding          -                       -
   Common stock - $.01 par value; shares
     authorized 100,000,000; issued
     40,091,502 in 1998 and 
     40,000,000 in 1997; outstanding 
     35,759,396 in 1998 and 35,017,416
     in 1997                                    401                     200
   Additional paid-in capital, common       257,987                 253,928
   Retained earnings
     (Since January 1, 1991)                255,493                 197,753
   Cumulative translation adjustment         (2,432)                 (3,232)
   Treasury common stock, at cost           (26,628)                (30,609)
                                          ---------               ---------
   Total stockholders' equity               484,821                 418,040

Commitments and contingencies (Note 2)            -                       -
                                          ---------               ---------
                                         $  699,283              $  610,776
                                          =========               =========

<FN>
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
</TABLE>
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<TABLE>
MUELLER INDUSTRIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Unaudited)
(In thousands)
<CAPTION>
                                                 For the Nine-Months Ended
                                              September 26,     September 27,
                                                  1998              1997
<S>                                            <C>               <C>
Cash flows from operating activities
   Net income                                  $   57,740        $   50,148
     Reconciliation of net income to net cash
     provided by operating activities:
     Depreciation and amortization                 16,923            15,409
     Minority interest in subsidiaries               (301)              244
     Deferred income taxes                             33               453
     Gain on disposal of properties                (1,676)           (1,641)
     Changes in assets and liabilities:
       Receivables                                    623           (34,805)
       Inventories                                 (5,096)          (14,013)
       Other assets                                (3,984)           (7,304)
       Current liabilities                          4,638             8,071
       Other liabilities                           (1,938)           (1,495)
       Other, net                                    (117)              (18)
                                                ---------         ---------
Net cash provided by operating activities          66,845            15,049
                                                ---------         ---------
Cash flows from investing activities



   Businesses acquired                            (39,859)          (37,743)
   Capital expenditures                           (36,227)          (26,743)
   Proceeds from sales of properties                1,816             1,722
   Escrowed IRB proceeds                            9,549           (23,001)
   Note receivable                                 (4,484)                -
                                                ---------         ---------
Net cash used in investing activities             (69,205)          (85,765)
                                                ---------         ---------
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt                -            27,500
   Repayments of long-term debt                   (12,037)           (9,840)
   Proceeds from stock options exercised
      including related tax benefits                6,803               597
                                                ---------         ---------
Net cash (used in) provided by
   financing activities                            (5,234)           18,257
                                                ---------         ---------
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash              (263)             (164)
                                                ---------         ---------
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents              (7,857)          (52,623)
Cash and cash equivalents at the 
   beginning of the period                         69,978            96,956
                                                ---------         ---------
Cash and cash equivalents at the 
   end of the period                           $   62,121        $   44,333
                                                =========         =========
<FN>
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
</TABLE>
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                          MUELLER INDUSTRIES, INC.
                 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
                                 (Unaudited)

General

     Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in 
financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles have been condensed or omitted.  Results of 
operations for the interim periods presented are not necessarily 
indicative of results which may be expected for any other interim period 
or for the year as a whole.  This quarterly report on Form 10-Q should be 
read in conjunction with the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K, 
including the annual financial statements incorporated therein by 
reference.

     The accompanying unaudited interim financial statements include all 
adjustments which are, in the opinion of management, necessary to a fair 
statement of the results for the interim periods presented.

Note 1 - Earnings Per Common Share

     Basic per share amounts have been computed based on the average number 
of common shares outstanding.  Diluted per share amounts reflect the 
increase in average common shares outstanding that would result from the 
assumed exercise of outstanding stock options, computed using the treasury 
stock method.

Note 2 - Commitments and Contingencies

     The Company is subject to normal environmental standards imposed by 
federal, state, local and foreign environmental laws and regulations.  
Based upon information currently available, management believes that the 
outcome of pending environmental matters will not materially affect the 
overall financial position and results of operations of the Company.

     In addition, the Company is involved in certain litigation as either 
plaintiff or defendant as a result of claims that arise in the ordinary 
course of business which management believes will not have a material 
effect on the Company's financial condition.

Note 3 - Comprehensive Income

     During 1997, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement 
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 130, Reporting Comprehensive Income 
(SFAS No. 130).  The Company adopted this Statement as of the beginning of 
1998.  SFAS No. 130 established new rules for the reporting and display of 
comprehensive income and its components; however, the adoption of this 
Statement had no impact on the Company's net income or stockholders' 
equity.  SFAS No. 130 requires foreign currency translation adjustments, 
which prior to adoption were reported separately in stockholders' equity, 
to be included in other comprehensive income.
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     Total comprehensive income was $20,922,000 and $16,233,000 for the 
quarters ending September 26, 1998, and September 27, 1997, respectively 
and was $58,540,000 and $48,507,000 for the nine-month periods ending 
September 26, 1998 and September 27, 1997, respectively.

Note 4 - Income Taxes

     In August 1998, the Company entered into a Closing Agreement with the 
Internal Revenue Service (IRS) which concluded the audit of the years 1993 
through 1995.  The Closing Agreement provides for an ordinary loss of 
approximately $70 million, realization of which is dependent upon the 
occurrence of certain future events described in specific tax regulations.  
The Closing Agreement also specifies that the character of the tax loss 
from the 1995 "abandonment" of the Preferred Stock of Sharon Specialty 
Steel Inc. is a capital loss.  Of this $49.1 million capital loss, $3.6 
million was used in 1996 and 1997.  The remaining $45.5 million of this 
capital loss is available to offset capital gains of the Company, if any, 
through December 30, 2000.  The effect of recognizing certain tax 
attributes resulting from the Closing Agreement during the quarter 
increased net income by $1.6 million or $0.04 per diluted share.  For 
financial reporting purposes, additional tax attributes may be recognized 
in future periods based upon the assessment of realization.  Such 
assessments would consider relevant risks associated with realization.

Note 5 - Acquisitions

     On September 15, 1998, the Company acquired Lincoln Brass Works, Inc.  
Lincoln operates manufacturing facilities in Jacksboro, Tennessee and 
Waynesboro, Tennessee.  Lincoln produces custom control valve assemblies 
for the gas appliance market, as well as custom metal assemblies, gas 
delivery systems, and tubular products.  Lincoln had net sales of 
approximately $35 million in 1997.  For a nominal consideration plus the 
assumption of Lincoln's debt, Mueller acquired 100 percent of the 
outstanding common shares of Lincoln.

     On August 11, 1998, the Company completed the acquisition of B&K 
Industries, Inc. B&K is an import distributor of residential and 
commercial plumbing products in the United States with net sales in excess 
of $50 million in 1997.  B&K sells through all major distribution channels 
including hardware co-ops, home centers, plumbing wholesalers, hardware 
wholesalers, OEMs, and manufactured housing wholesalers.  Retail customers 
include Ace Hardware Corporation, Lowe's Companies, Inc., The Home Depot, 
Inc., and Tru*Serv Corporation (True Value, Servistar and Coast to Coast 
Hardware Stores).  The purchase price was $33.5 million, of which ninety 
percent was paid in cash and the remainder paid in shares of Mueller 
common stock.

     During the first half of 1997, the Company acquired the assets and 
certain liabilities of Precision Tube Company, Inc., the assets of 
Wednesbury Tube Company, and Desnoyers S.A.

     These acquisitions are accounted for using the purchase method.  
Therefore, the results of operations of the acquired businesses are 
included in the consolidated financial statements of the Company from 
their respective acquisition dates.
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     The following condensed pro forma consolidated results of operations 
are presented as if the acquisitions had occurred at the beginning of 
1997.  This information combines the historical results of operations of 
the Company and the acquired businesses after the effects of estimated 
purchase accounting adjustments.  The pro forma information does not 
purport to be indicative of the results that would have been obtained if 
the operations had actually been combined during the periods presented and 
is not necessarily indicative of operating results to be expected in 
future periods.

(In thousands, except per share data)
[CAPTION]
                                                 For the Nine-Months Ended
                                              September 26,     September 27,
                                                  1998              1997
[S]                                            [C]               [C]
        
Net sales                                      $  730,498        $  772,655
Net income                                         57,004            45,045
Basic earnings per share                             1.61              1.28
Diluted earnings per share                           1.43              1.14



     The final assessment of fair values of the assets and reserves 
associated with the Desnoyers S.A. acquisition was completed during the 
second quarter of 1998.  The determination of final fair values resulted 
in adjustments consisting of changes from initially recorded values.  
These adjustments increased property, plant and equipment, and other 
current liabilities by approximately $12.4 million and $8.6 million 
respectively, and decreased other assets by approximately $3.8 million.

     On August 10, 1998, the Company announced that it had entered into a 
definitive merger agreement to acquire Halstead Industries, Inc. for a 
purchase price of approximately $92 million payable in shares of Mueller 
stock.  Halstead operates a copper tube mill in Wynne, Arkansas, and a 
line sets facility in Clinton, Tennessee, with total sales of 
approximately $250 million in 1997.  On October 30, 1998, the Company 
purchased approximately 58 percent of the outstanding common stock of 
Halstead and executed an amended and restated definitive merger agreement.  
Under the amended and restated merger agreement, the transaction was 
restructured from a stock to an all cash transaction.  The total cash 
purchase price for all outstanding common stock of Halstead (including the 
approximately 58 percent purchased on October 30, 1998) will be $94,743,000 
and will be funded with existing cash balances and borrowings under the 
existing credit facility among the Company, Michigan National Bank (as a 
bank) and Michigan National Bank (as agent).  The amount of consideration 
paid on October 30, 1998 and to be paid in the merger was determined as the 
result of arms-length negotiations between Halstead and Mueller.  The merger, 
which is expected to be consummated in November, will be accounted for under 
the purchase method.  Mueller intends to continue to use the assets acquired 
in the merger in the business in which such assets were used by Halstead.
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Note 6 - Stock Option Exercise

     On June 15, 1998, the Company loaned $4.5 million, on a full recourse 
basis, to an officer.  Proceeds of $1.4 million were used by the officer 
to exercise options on the Company's stock.  That portion of the loan has 
been classified as a reduction of additional paid-in capital, while the 
remaining balance of the loan is included in other assets in the Company's 
consolidated financial statements.  The loan is secured by common stock of 
the Company.

     The tax benefit associated with the exercise of these options reduced 
taxes payable, classified as other current liabilities, by $3.8 million.  
Such benefits are reflected as additions to additional paid-in capital.

Item 2.      Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and 
             Results of Operations

General Overview

     The Company's principal business is the manufacture and sale of copper 
tube, brass rod, copper and plastic fittings, forgings, valves, and other 
products made of copper, brass, bronze, plastic and aluminum. New housing 
starts and commercial construction are important determinants of the 
Company's sales to the air-conditioning, refrigeration, and plumbing 
markets because the principal end use of a significant portion of the 
Company's products is in the construction of single and multi-family 
housing and commercial buildings.  The Company's product is sold to 
wholesalers in the plumbing, air-conditioning and refrigeration markets 
and to OEMs in these and other markets.  Mueller's plants are located 
throughout the United States and in Canada, France and Great Britain.  The 
Company also owns a short line railroad in Utah and natural resource 
properties in the Western U.S.

     Profitability of certain of the Company's product lines depends upon 
the "spreads" between the cost of material and the selling prices of its 
completed products.  The open market prices for copper cathode and scrap, 
for example, influence the selling price of copper tubing, a principal 
product manufactured by the Company.  The Company attempts to minimize the 
negative effects of fluctuations in material costs by passing these costs 
through to its customers.  "Spreads" fluctuate based upon competitive 
market conditions.

     During 1997, the Company acquired two European copper tube 
manufacturers.  Wednesbury Tube is located in Bilston, England, and 
Desnoyers S.A. is located near Paris, France.  These acquisitions give the 
Company a major manufacturing and sales presence in Europe.  In addition, 



the acquisition of B&K Industries, Inc. in the third quarter of 1998, will 
provide the Company opportunities to increase sales of its existing 
products in the retail channel, which is a large and growing component of 
the plumbing supply business.

     The Company uses the LIFO method to value the copper component of 
certain of its copper tube and fittings inventories in the United States.  
The market price of copper also indirectly affects the carrying value 
(FIFO basis) of the Company's brass and other metal inventories.
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Results of Operations

     Net income was $18.8 million, or 47 cents per diluted share, for the 
third quarter of 1998, which compares with net income of $18.1 million, or 
46 cents per diluted share, for the same period of 1997.  Year-to-date net 
income was $57.7 million, or $1.45 per diluted share, which compares to 
net income of $50.1 million, or $1.28 cents per diluted share for 1997.

     Pounds of product sold in the third quarter of 1998 totaled 150.7 
million, an increase of 8 percent over the 140.1 million pounds sold in 
the same quarter of 1997.  Net sales for the third quarter were $212.7 
million, which compares to net sales of $229.1 million in the same period 
of 1997.  This decline in net sales reflected the drop in the price of 
copper from an average of $1.02 per pound in the third quarter of 1997, to 
75 cents per pound in the same quarter of 1998.  Net sales were $665.3 
million in the first nine-months of 1998 versus $645.9 million in 1997.  
The Company's manufacturing businesses shipped 466.0 million pounds of 
product in the first nine-months of 1998, or 17 percent more than the same 
period of 1997.  

     Third quarter 1998 operating income decreased compared to the same 
period in 1997 primarily due to reduced spreads in our copper and plastic 
fittings businesses.  Year-to-date operating income increased primarily 
due to:  (i) productivity improvements at the Company's North American 
manufacturing operations; (ii) higher sales volumes particularly at brass 
rod and plastics; and (iii) spread improvements in domestic copper tube.  
Selling, general, and administrative expense increased primarily due to 
acquired businesses.

     Interest expense for the third quarter of 1998 totaled $1.2 million 
compared to $1.8 million in the same quarter of 1997.  For the first nine-
months of 1998, interest expense was $3.7 million compared to $4.1 million 
for the same period of 1997. During the first nine-months of 1998, the 
Company capitalized $0.5 million of interest related to capital 
improvement programs compared to none in 1997.  Total interest in the 
first nine-months of 1998 increased due to the increase in long-term debt 
following the issuance of Industrial Development Revenue Bonds in the 
third quarter of 1997, partially offset by scheduled reductions in other 
long-term debt.  

     The effective tax rate of 28.1 percent in the third quarter and 31.0 
percent in the first nine-months of 1998 reflects the effect of 
recognizing certain tax attributes resulting from the Closing Agreement, 
the benefits of a lower federal provision relating to the recognition of 
net operating loss carry forwards, and a lower state provision associated 
with incentive IRB financings.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

     Cash provided by operating activities during the first nine-months of 
1998 totaled $66.8 million which is primarily attributable to net income 
and depreciation.  During the first nine-months of 1998, the Company used 
$69.2 million in investing activities, consisting primarily of $39.9 
million for business acquisitions, plus $36.2 million in capital 
expenditures offset by $9.5 million proceeds from escrowed IRB funds.  
Cash used in investing activities was funded with existing cash balances, 
cash from operations, plus escrowed IRB proceeds.
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     The Company has a $100.0 million unsecured line-of-credit agreement 
(the Credit Facility) which expires in May 2001, but which may be extended 
for successive one-year periods by agreement of the parties.  Borrowings 
under the Credit Facility bear interest, at the Company's option, at (i) 
prime rate less .50 percent, (ii) LIBOR plus .27 percent, or (iii) Federal 
Funds Rate plus .65 percent.  There are no outstanding borrowings under 
the Credit Facility.  At September 26, 1998, funds available under the 
Credit Facility were reduced by $4.2 million for outstanding letters of 
credit.  At September 26, 1998, the Company's total debt was $74.4 million 
or 13.3 percent of its total capitalization.

     The Company's financing obligations contain various covenants which 
require, among other things, the maintenance of minimum levels of working 
capital, tangible net worth, and debt service coverage ratios.  The 
Company is in compliance with all debt covenants.



Management believes that cash provided by operations and currently 
available cash of $62.1 million will be adequate to meet the Company's 
normal future capital expenditure and operational needs.  Additionally, 
certain capital improvements are being funded with escrowed IRB proceeds.  
The Company's current ratio remains strong at 2.8 to 1.

     During the third quarter, the Company used $39.9 million of cash in 
business acquisitions, which includes the payoff of $7.5 million of 
acquired debt.  The Company also assumed $14.4 million of long-term debt 
in these transactions.  The acquisition of Halstead Industries, Inc. will 
be funded with existing cash and draws on the Company's existing line of 
credit.  The Company is evaluating other long-term financing alternatives 
for these acquired businesses.

     The Company has an ongoing capital improvement project at its Fulton 
copper tube mill to improve the utilization of scrap metal and enhance the 
mill's refining processes.  Mueller has increased its projected cost for 
this project to approximately $33.4 million, due to (i) engineering 
changes in the scope of the project, (ii) increases resulting from changes 
in environmental regulations, and (iii) additional concrete footings and 
related infrastructure changes necessitated by soil composition.  
Completion of this project is expected in the first half of 1999.

     Another important ongoing program is the modernization of the Company's 
copper fittings plant in Covington, Tennessee.  Modernization of this 
facility, which produces a broad range of low-volume copper fittings, is 
estimated to require approximately $7.3 million in capital improvements 
and will be completed in 1999.  This project, when completed, will also 
increase output and improve efficiency.
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Year 2000 Program

     Mueller has established a Year 2000 program to evaluate, confirm 
compliance, and identify any necessary changes to its information 
technology (IT) and non-IT (operating) systems to address Year 2000 
requirements.  Mueller has retained a consulting firm specializing in this 
area to assist in the program.  To date, Mueller has expensed 
approximately $400,000 related to this outside consultant.  Mueller 
believes that additional future expense related to the consultant will be 
approximately $500,000 over the next year.  There are four phases to this 
program: assessment; inventory; test and correction; and certification.  
Assessment involves the examination of Mueller's IT and non-IT systems for 
specific date impacts, component complexity and inter-relationships.  
Inventory involves the identification and categorization of Mueller's 
systems, applications, data structures, system interfaces, programmable 
logic controllers, etc., which, based on the assessment, potentially raise 
Year 2000 issues.  Once the assessment and inventory is completed, Mueller 
plans to determine Year 2000 compliance through a combination of testing, 
use assessments, third party verifications, and correction.  Once this is 
completed, Mueller would be positioned to certify one or more of its 
systems or facilities as Year 2000 compliant.     

     IT Systems

     Mueller has completed its assessment and inventory of its IT systems.  
Based on that assessment, Mueller has concluded that it will need to 
replace certain hardware at an estimated cost of $250,000 (which has been 
scheduled to be completed by the end of 1998), and rewrite less than 4 
percent of its modified software code (which it anticipates will require 
internal IS personnel approximately 120 person-hours to accomplish by a 
scheduled completion date of the end of 1998).  

     Certain business systems of Mueller's European businesses are not Year 
2000 compliant, but this will be resolved within the context of an overall 
upgrade to these information systems in order to accommodate, among other 
things, the Euro single currency.  Total implementation costs for this 
upgrade are estimated at approximately $900,000.  

     Non-IT Systems

     Mueller has completed its assessment and inventory at over half of its 



North American manufacturing facilities.  Mueller selected these factories 
for assessment and inventory because of their importance or likelihood of 
Year 2000 issues.  Mueller has identified certain non-IT systems which are 
not Year 2000 compliant, but which Mueller plans to replace and/or correct 
and certify as compliant in the first quarter of 1999 at an estimated cost 
of less than $50,000. 
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     Third Parties

     Mueller is in the process of contacting its major product and service 
suppliers to determine their Year 2000 readiness, and will continue to 
follow up these inquiries to ensure, to the best of its ability, that 
these suppliers will be Year 2000 compliant.  Nonetheless, there can be no 
assurance that the systems used by these suppliers will be remediated in a 
timely manner, which, if not remediated, may have an adverse effect on 
Mueller.  Mueller intends to defer development of any Year 2000 
contingency plans until it completes its assessment of third party 
suppliers, which is scheduled to be completed by the end of 1998.

Halstead Industries, Inc.

     Halstead has evaluated, and will continue to evaluate, its information 
systems and technology infrastructure for Year 2000 compliance.  During 
the normal course of business, most of the software systems used by 
Halstead have been recently upgraded or replaced and little or no 
additional changes are required to be made.  For Year 2000 compliance, 
Halstead anticipates spending no more than $200,000 through 1999 to modify 
its information technology infrastructure.  Halstead does not anticipate 
any material disruption in its operation as a result of any failure by 
Halstead to be in compliance.

     Halstead does not currently have any information concerning the Year 
2000 compliance status of its suppliers and customers.  In the event that 
any of Halstead's significant suppliers or customers do not successfully 
and timely achieve Year 2000 compliance, Halstead's business or operations 
could be adversely affected.  However, Halstead is presently developing a 
program for contacting its major suppliers and customers to determine 
their Year 2000 readiness.  Following the completion of its assessment of 
customers and suppliers in early 1999, Halstead will determine the level 
and extent of its Year 2000 contingency plans.

Part II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 5.  Other Information

     Mueller has programs underway to make near-term improvements at its 
European operations.  Further, the Company is also considering various 
long-term capital investments for these businesses which will further 
improve their cost structure and productivity.  

     Pursuant to the requirements of the French labor code, management at 
Desnoyers is engaged in ongoing consultations regarding the terms of a 
social plan relating to management's proposed closure of its Laigneville 
facility.  Management's proposed action is anticipated to be finalized 
near the end of the year.
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Item 6.  Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K

     (a)   Exhibits

           2.1   Amended and Restated Agreement and Plan of Merger among
                 Mueller Industries, Inc., Mueller Acquisition Corp. and
                 Halstead Industries, Inc. Dated as of October 30, 1998.
                 Schedules as listed in the index to this Agreement have 



                 been omitted.  The Company agrees to furnish copies of any 
                 such schedule upon request of the Securities and Exchange
                 Commission.

           2.2   Form of Stock Purchase Agreement with William B. Halstead.

           2.3   Form of Stock Purchase Agreement with remaining Halstead 
                 stockholders.

           19.1  Mueller Industries, Inc.'s Quarterly Report to 
                 Stockholders for the quarter ended September 26, 1998.

                 Such report is being furnished for the information of the 
                 Securities and Exchange Commission only and is not to be 
                 deemed filed as part of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

     (b)   During the quarter ended September 26, 1998, the Registrant 
           filed no Current Reports on Form 8-K.

Items 1, 2, 3 and 4 are not applicable and have been omitted.
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                                   SIGNATURES

     Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed 
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on November 6, 
1998.

                                        MUELLER INDUSTRIES, INC.

                                        /S/ EARL W. BUNKERS
                                        Earl W. Bunkers, Executive Vice
                                        President and Chief Financial Officer

                                        /S/ KENT A. MCKEE
                                        Kent A. McKee
                                        Vice President Business
                                        Development/Investor Relations

                                        /S/ RICHARD W. CORMAN
                                        Richard W. Corman
                                        Corporate Controller
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                            EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibits            Description

2.1          Amended and Restated Agreement and Plan of Merger among
             Mueller Industries, Inc., Mueller Acquisition Corp. and
             Halstead Industries, Inc. Dated as of October 30, 1998.

2.2          Form of Stock Purchase Agreement with William B. Halstead.

2.3          Form of Stock Purchase Agreement with other Halstead 
             stockholders.

19.1         Quarterly Report to Stockholders.

27.1         Financial Data Schedule for the period ended September 26, 1998
             (EDGAR filing only).
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              AMENDED AND RESTATED AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

     AMENDED AND RESTATED AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER (the 
"Agreement"), dated as of October 30, 1998, by and among Mueller 
Industries, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Parent"), Mueller 
Acquisition Corp., a Delaware corporation and a wholly owned 
subsidiary of Parent ("Merger Sub"), and Halstead Industries, Inc., 
a Delaware corporation (the "Company").

                            W I T N E S S E T H:

     WHEREAS, on the date hereof, Merger Sub is acquiring 2,041 
shares of Company Common Stock (as defined herein) constituting 
[58.16]% of the Company Common Stock outstanding on the date of this 
Agreement and, in connection with such purchase, Halstead is 
electing one designee of Parent to the Board of Directors (as 
defined herein) and each committee of the Board of Directors;

     WHEREAS, Parent and the Company desire to effect a 
business combination by means of the merger of Merger Sub with and 
into the Company;

     WHEREAS, the Boards of Directors of Parent, Merger Sub and 
the Company have approved the merger of Merger Sub with and into the 
Company (the "Merger"), upon the terms and subject to the conditions 
set forth herein;

     WHEREAS, the price paid by Merger Sub for each share of 
Company Common Stock purchased by Merger Sub on the date hereof is 
the same as the price for each share of Company Common Stock to be 
paid in the Merger;

     WHEREAS, Parent, Merger Sub and the Company are parties to 
an Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of August 7, 1998 (the 
"Original Merger Agreement");

     WHEREAS, Parent, Merger Sub and the Company have agreed to 
amend and restate the Original Merger Agreement as set forth herein;

     WHEREAS, Parent has afforded the Company, the ESOP (as 
defined herein), and the representatives of the Company and the ESOP 
access to Parent's properties, books, contracts, commitments, files 
and records to the extent requested by such Persons (as defined 
herein) for the purpose of permitting the Company, the ESOP and the 
financial advisor to the ESOP to evaluate the consideration to be 



received by the Company's stockholders, including the ESOP 
Participants (as defined herein); and

     WHEREAS, the Company has afforded and has agreed herein to 
continue to afford Parent, Merger Sub and their representatives 
access to the Company's properties, books, Contracts (as defined 
herein), commitments and files and records.

     NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the 
respective covenants and agreements hereinafter contained, the 
parties hereby agree as follows:

                                      -6-
                                 ARTICLE I.

                                 DEFINITIONS

     As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have 
the following meanings:

     "Agreement" -- See Preamble hereto;

     "Affiliates" shall have the meaning set forth in Rule 12b-
2 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended;

     "Board of Directors" -- See Section 9.8;

     "Business Day" shall mean a day other than a Saturday, 
Sunday or other day on which banks in the States of New York, North 
Carolina or Tennessee are not required or authorized to close;

     "Certificate of Merger" -- See Section 2.2;

     "Certificates" -- See Section 4.2(b);

     "Closing" -- See Section 4.5;

     "Closing Date" -- See Section 4.5;

     "Code" shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 
amended;

     "Company" -- See Preamble hereto;

     "Company Common Stock" -- See Section 4.1;

     "Company Meeting" -- See Section 11.2;

     "Contracts" shall mean, collectively, the Leases, Purchase 
Orders, Sales Orders and Other Contracts, including, without 
limitation, those described in Section 5.18 hereto;

     "Controlled Group" -- See Section 5.20(a);

     "December 31, 1997 Balance Sheet" shall mean the audited 
balance sheet of the Company as of December 31, 1997 audited by 
Arthur Andersen LLP;

     "DGCL" -- See Section 3.4;

     "Dissenting Shares" -- See Section 4.1(d);

     "Dissenting Stockholder" -- See Section 4.1(d);

     "Effective Date" -- See Section 2.2;

     "Environmental Claim" -- See Section 5.26(g);
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     "Environmental Laws" shall mean any federal, state, or 
local statute, regulation, ordinance, order, decree, or other 
requirement of law relating to protection of the environment or to 
the identification, transportation, handling, discharge, emission, 
treatment, storage, or disposal of any pollutant, contaminant, 
hazardous or soiled waste, or any hazardous or toxic substance or 
material.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, 
Environmental Laws shall include, without limitation, the 
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability 
Act, 42 U.S.C.  9601 et seq.; the Resource Conservation and 
Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C.  6901 et seq.; the Federal Water Pollution 
Control Act, 33 U.S.C.  1251 et seq.; the Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. 
 7401 et seq.; the Toxic Substances Control Act, 15 U.S.C.  261 et 



seq.; the Safe Drinking Water Act, 42 U.S.C. 43000(f) et seq.; the 
Occupational Safety and Health Act, 29 U.S.C.   651 et seq.; and  
the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act, 49 U.S.C.   1802 et 
seq.; each as amended, together with the regulations promulgated 
thereunder, permits issued thereunder, and analogous state and local 
statutes, regulations and ordinances;

     "Equipment and Machinery" shall mean all the equipment, 
machinery, furniture, fixtures and improvements, supplies and 
vehicles owned, leased or used by the Company;

     "ERISA" shall mean the Employee Retirement Income Security 
Act of 1974, as amended;

     "ESOP" shall mean the Employee Stock Ownership Plan of 
Halstead Industries, Inc., originally effective January 1, 1976 and 
as amended through and following the date of this Agreement;

     "ESOP Advance" -- See Section 10.3;

     "ESOP Lender" shall mean First Union National Bank of 
North Carolina;

     "ESOP Loan Agreements" shall mean (i) the Loan Agreement 
dated as of June 14, 1990 and as amended by the First Amendment 
thereto, dated July 10, 1996, and the Pledge Agreement, Guaranty 
Agreement and other ancillary documents related thereto and (ii) the 
Loan Agreement dated May 30, 1997, and the Pledge Agreement, 
Guaranty Agreement and other ancillary documents related thereto;

     "ESOP Loans" shall mean those outstanding loans to the 
ESOP Trust from the ESOP Lender pursuant to the ESOP Loan 
Agreements;

     "ESOP Participants" shall mean those persons having an 
account balance under the ESOP;

     "ESOP Trust" shall mean the trust established by the ESOP 
Trust Agreement;

     "ESOP Trust Agreement" shall mean the Employee Stock 
Ownership Trust of Halstead Industries, Inc., dated December 30, 
1994 and as amended through and following the date of this 
Agreement;
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     "ESOP Trustee" shall mean First Commercial Trust Company 
(Little Rock, Arkansas), the trustee of the ESOP Trust;

     "Excluded Shares" -- See Section 4.1(a);

     "Financial Statements" -- See Section 5.7;

     "Fixed Asset Workpapers" -- See Section 5.13;

     "GAAP" shall mean generally accepted accounting principles 
in the United States;

     "Governmental Entity" shall mean any federal, state or 
foreign governmental or public body, agency or authority;

     "Hazardous Substance" -- See Section 5.26(d);

     "HSR Act" -- See Section 6.5;

     "Indemnified Liabilities" -- See Section 11.5;

     "Indemnified Parties" -- See Section 11.5;

     "Independent Directors" -- See Section 9.8;

     "Intangible Assets" shall mean all intangible personal 
property rights, including, without limitation, all rights on the 
part of the Company to proceeds of any insurance policies and all 
claims on the part of the Company for recoupment, reimbursement and 
coverage under any insurance policies and all goodwill of the 
Company, including, without limitation, those items listed in 
Schedule 5.14 hereto;

     "Intellectual Property" shall mean all of the following 
owned by, issued to or licensed to the Company: (i) all inventions 
(whether patentable or unpatentable and whether or not reduced to 
practice), all improvements thereto, and all patents, patent 
applications, and patent disclosures, together with all reissuances, 
continuations, continuations-in-part, revisions, extensions and 



reexaminations thereof; (ii) all trademarks, service marks, trade 
dress, logos, trade names, and corporate names, together with all 
translations, adaptations, derivations, and combinations thereof and 
including all goodwill associated therewith, and all applications, 
registrations and renewals in connection therewith; (iii) all 
copyrightable works (including, without limitation, all software 
developed by the Company), all copyrights, and all applications, 
registrations and renewals in connection therewith; (iv) all mask 
works and all applications, registrations and renewals in connection 
therewith; (v) all trade secrets and confidential business 
information (including ideas, research and development, know-how, 
formulas, compositions, manufacturing and production processes and 
techniques, technical data, designs, drawings, specifications, 
customer and supplier lists, pricing and cost information, and 
business and marketing plans and proposals); (vi) all computer 
software (including object code, source code, data and related 
documentation); (vii) all Internet Websites, including domain name 
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registrations and content and software included therein; (viii) all 
other proprietary rights; (ix) all rights to recover for past 
infringements of any of the foregoing; and (x) all copies and 
tangible embodiments thereof (in whatever form or medium); 
including, without limitation, those items listed in Schedule 5.14 
hereto;

     "Leased Real Property" -- See Section 5.12;

     "Leases" -- See Section 5.12;

     "Licenses and Permits" -- See Section 5.15;

     "Lien" shall mean any mortgage, pledge, security interest, 
encumbrance, lien (statutory or other), conditional sale agreement, 
claim, charge, limitation or restriction;

     "Loan Suspense Account" shall mean the "Loan Suspense 
Account" as defined in the ESOP;

     "Merger" -- See Recitals hereto;

     "Merger Sub" -- See Preamble hereto;

     "Merger Sub-Owned Shares" -- See Section 5.5;

     "MSOP" shall mean the Management Stock Ownership Plan of 
Halstead Industries, Inc., in effect for the period January 1, 1989 
through October 26, 1998;

     "MSOP Administration Committee" shall mean the 
"Administration Committee" as defined in the MSOP;

     "MSOP Participants" shall mean those persons having an 
account balance under the MSOP;

     "MSOP Trust" shall mean the trust established by the MSOP 
Trust Agreement;

     "MSOP Trust Agreement" shall mean the Management Stock 
Ownership Trust of Halstead Industries, Inc., in effect for the 
period January 1, 1989 through October 26, 1998;

     "Multiemployer Plans" -- See Section 5.20(e);

     "NLRB" -- See Section 5.25(b);

     "Occurrence" -- See Section 5.27(b);

     "Original Merger Agreement" -- See Recitals hereto;

     "Other Contracts" shall mean all Equipment and Machinery 
leases, and all indentures, loan agreements, security agreements, 
partnership or joint venture agreements, license agreements, 
maintenance contracts, service contracts, employment, commission and 
consulting agreements, suretyship contracts, letters of credit, 
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reimbursement agreements, distribution agreements, contracts or 
commitments limiting or restraining the Company from engaging or 
competing in any lines of business or with any Person, documents 
granting the power of attorney with respect to the affairs of the 
Company, agreements not made in the ordinary course of business of 
the Company, options to purchase any assets or property rights of 



the Company, working capital maintenance or other form of guaranty 
agreements, and all other agreements to which the Company is a 
party, but excluding Leases, Purchase Orders, Sales Orders and 
Plans;

     "Owned Real Property" -- See Section 5.11;

     "Parent" -- See Preamble hereto;

     "Parties" shall mean Parent, Merger Sub and the Company;

     "Pension Plan" -- See Section 5.20(d); 

     "Per Share Amount" -- See Section 4.1(b);

     "Person" shall mean any individual, corporation, 
partnership, joint venture, association, joint-stock company, trust, 
unincorporated organization or Governmental Entity;

     "Plans" -- See Section 5.20(a);

     "Post-Retirement Benefits" -- See Section 5.20(g);

     "Product Liability Lawsuits" -- See Section 5.27(a);

     "Products" -- See Section 5.27(a);

     "Proxy Statement" -- See Section 11.2;

     "Purchase Orders" shall mean all the Company's outstanding 
purchase orders, contracts or other commitments to suppliers of 
goods and services for materials, supplies or other items used in 
its businesses;

     "Retrofits" -- See Section 5.27(a);

     "Sales Orders" shall mean all the Company's sales orders, 
contracts or other commitments to purchasers of goods and services 
of its businesses;

     "Securities Act" shall mean the Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended;

     "Subsidiary" means, with respect to the Company, Parent or 
Merger Sub, as the case may be, any entity, whether incorporated or 
unincorporated, of which at least a majority of the securities or 
ownership interests having by their terms ordinary voting power to 
elect a majority of the board of directors or other persons 
performing similar functions is directly or indirectly owned or 
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controlled by such party or by one or more of its respective Subsidiaries 
or by such party and any one or more of its respective Subsidiaries; 

     "Surviving Corporation" -- See Section 2.1;

     "Tax Return" shall mean any report, return, information 
return, filing, claim for refund or other information, including any 
schedules or attachments thereto, and any amendments to any of the 
foregoing required to be supplied to a taxing authority in 
connection with Taxes;

     "Taxes" shall mean all federal, state, local or foreign 
taxes, including, without limitation, income, gross income, gross 
receipts, production, excise, employment, sales, use, transfer, ad 
valorem, profits, license, capital stock, franchise, severance, 
stamp, withholding, Social Security, employment, unemployment, 
disability, worker's compensation, payroll, utility, windfall 
profit, custom duties, personal property, real property, 
registration, alternative or add-on minimum, estimated and other 
taxes, governmental fees or like charges of any kind whatsoever, 
including any interest, penalties or additions thereto, whether 
disputed or not; and "Tax" shall mean any one of them;

     "Welfare Plan" -- See Section 5.20(c).

                                 ARTICLE II.

                                 THE MERGER

     Section 2.1.  The Merger.  Upon the terms and subject to the conditions 
hereof, on the Effective Date (as defined in Section 2.2), Merger Sub shall



be merged with and into the Company and the separate existence of 
Merger Sub shall thereupon cease, and the Company, as the surviving 
corporation in the Merger (the "Surviving Corporation"), shall by 
virtue of the Merger continue its corporate existence under the laws 
of the State of Delaware.

     Section 2.2.  Effective Date of the Merger.   The Merger shall 
become effective at the date and time (the "Effective Date") when a 
properly executed Certificate of Merger (the "Certificate of 
Merger") is duly filed with the Secretary of State of the State of 
Delaware.  The Parties shall cause the Certificate of Merger to be 
executed and filed as aforesaid on the Closing Date upon the 
satisfaction or waiver of the conditions contained in Articles XII, 
XIII and XIV hereto.

                                ARTICLE III.

                          THE SURVIVING CORPORATION

     Section 3.1.  Certificate of Incorporation.  The Certificate 
of Incorporation of the Company shall be the Certificate of 
Incorporation of the Surviving Corporation after the Effective Date, 
and thereafter may be amended as provided therein or by law.

     Section 3.2.  By-Laws.  The By-Laws of the Company as in effect 
on the Effective Date shall be the By-Laws of the Surviving Corporation, 
and thereafter may be amended as provided therein or by law.
                                      -12-
     Section 3.3.  Board of Directors; Officers.  The directors of 
Merger Sub immediately prior to the Effective Date shall be the 
directors of the Surviving Corporation and the officers of Merger 
Sub immediately prior to the Effective Date shall be the officers of 
the Surviving Corporation, in each case until their respective 
successors are duly elected and qualified.

     Section 3.4.  Effects of Merger.  The Merger shall have the effects 
set forth in Section 259 of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the 
"DGCL").

                                 ARTICLE IV.

                            CONVERSION OF SHARES

     Section 4.1.  Exchange Ratio.  On the Effective Date, by virtue of 
the Merger and without any action on the part of any holder of any 
common stock, $.10 par value, of the Company ("Company Common 
Stock"):

     (a)  All shares of Company Common Stock issued and 
outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Date which are held 
by the Company, and any shares of Company Common Stock issued and 
outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Date owned by Parent, 
Merger Sub or any other Subsidiary of Parent (other than Mueller 
Streamline Co.), shall cease to be outstanding, shall be canceled 
and retired without payment of any consideration therefor and shall 
cease to exist ("Excluded Shares").

     (b)  Each share of Company Common Stock issued and 
outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Date (other than 
Excluded Shares and any Dissenting Shares (as defined in Section 
4.1(d)) shall be canceled and extinguished and be converted into the 
right to receive an amount per share (the "Per Share Amount") 
determined by dividing (A) $39,636,000 less 41.84% of the amount of 
expenses incurred by the Company for all services rendered, and 
expenses advanced, in connection with the Merger by the Company's 
and the ESOP's and MSOP's accountants, attorneys and financial 
advisors prior to the Closing Date to the extent that such expenses 
shall exceed $800,000 by (B) the total number of shares of Company 
Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the 
Effective Date, other than Excluded Shares, in cash payable to the 
holder thereof, without interest.

     (c)  Each share of capital stock of Merger Sub issued and 
outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Date shall be 
converted into and become one fully paid and nonassessable share of 
common stock, $.01 par value, of the Surviving Corporation.

     (d)  Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the 
contrary, any issued and outstanding shares of Company Common Stock 
held by a Person (a "Dissenting Stockholder") who duly demands 
appraisal of his shares of Company Common Stock pursuant to the DGCL 
and complies with all the provisions of the DGCL concerning the 
right of holders of Company Common Stock to demand appraisal of 
their shares in connection with the Merger ("Dissenting Shares") 
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shall not be converted as described in Section 4.1(b) but shall 
become the right to receive such cash consideration as may be 
determined to be due to such Dissenting Stockholder as provided in 
the DGCL.  If, however, such Dissenting Stockholder withdraws his 
demand for appraisal or fails to perfect or otherwise loses his 
right of appraisal, in any case pursuant to the DGCL, each of his 
shares shall be deemed to be converted as of the Effective Date into 
the right to receive the Per Share Amount without interest.  The 
Company shall give Parent (i) prompt notice of any demands for 
appraisal of shares of Company Common Stock received by the Company 
and (ii) the opportunity to participate in and direct all 
negotiations and proceedings with respect to any such demands.  The 
Company shall not, without the prior written consent of Parent, make 
any payment with respect to, or settle, offer to settle or otherwise 
negotiate, any such demands.

     Section 4.2.  Exchange of Certificates.

     (a)  On or prior to the Effective Date, Parent shall have 
on deposit for the benefit of holders of Company Common Stock the 
aggregate consideration to which such holders shall be entitled at 
the Effective Date pursuant to Section 4.1(b).  

     (b)  Each holder of a certificate or certificates 
("Certificates") representing any shares of Company Common Stock 
canceled upon the Merger pursuant to Section 4.1(b) may thereafter 
surrender such Certificates to Parent, as agent for such holder, to 
effect the surrender of such Certificates on such holder's behalf 
for a period ending six months after the Effective Date.  Prior to 
the date hereof, Parent has provided the Company for distribution to 
holders of record of shares of Company Common Stock on the record 
date for the Company Meeting and will provide the Company for 
distribution to the holders of record of shares of Company Common 
Stock on the Effective Date who were not also holders of record on 
the record date of the Company Meeting the appropriate materials to 
facilitate such surrender.  Upon surrender of a Certificate not 
later than four (4) Business Days prior to the Effective Date, 
Parent shall on the Effective Date to pay the holder of such 
Certificate in exchange therefor cash in an amount equal to the Per 
Share Amount multiplied by the number of shares of Company Common 
Stock represented by such Certificate.  Upon surrender of a 
Certificate later than four (4) Business Days prior to the Effective 
Date, Parent will, after the Effective Date, promptly pay the holder 
of such Certificate in exchange therefor cash in an amount equal to 
the Per Share Amount multiplied by the number of shares of Company 
Common Stock represented by such Certificate.  No interest shall 
accrue or be paid on any cash payable upon the surrender of 
Certificates which immediately before the Effective Date represented 
outstanding shares of Company Common Stock.  Until so surrendered, 
each such Certificate (other than Certificates representing 
Dissenting Shares and Certificates representing Excluded Shares) 
shall represent solely the right to receive the aggregate Per Share 
Amount relating thereto.  

     (c)  If payment of cash in respect of canceled shares of 
Company Common Stock is to be made to a Person other than the Person 
in whose name a surrendered Certificate is registered, it shall be a 
condition to such payment that the Certificate or Certificates so 
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surrendered shall be properly endorsed or be otherwise in proper 
form for transfer and that the Person requesting such exchange shall 
pay to Parent any transfer or other Taxes required by reason of such 
payment in a name other than that of the registered holder of the 
Certificate surrendered, or shall establish to the satisfaction of 
Parent that such Tax has been paid or is not applicable.

     (d) Until surrendered for exchange pursuant to Section 
4.2(b), Certificates representing shares of Company Common Stock 
shall represent solely the right to receive payment of the aggregate 
Per Share Amount relating thereto, without any interest thereon.  If 
any Certificates representing shares of Company Common Stock 
entitled to payment pursuant to Section 4.1(b) shall not have been 
surrendered for such payment prior to such date on which any payment 
in respect thereof would otherwise escheat to or become the property 
of any governmental agency or other Governmental Entity, such shares 
of Company Common Stock shall, to the extent permitted by applicable 
law, be deemed to be canceled and no money or other property will be 
due to the holder thereof.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, no Party 
hereto shall be liable to a holder of shares of Company Common Stock 
for any amount properly delivered to a public official pursuant to 
any applicable escheat laws.

     (e)  The Per Share Amount paid in the Merger to the holder 



of shares of Company Common Stock shall be net in cash, subject to 

reduction only for any applicable federal back-up withholding taxes 
or, as set forth in Section 4.2(c), Taxes payable by such holder.

     Section 4.3.  Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Certificates. 
In the event any Certificate shall have been lost, stolen or 
destroyed, upon the making of an affidavit of that fact by the 
Person claiming such Certificate to be lost, stolen or destroyed 
and, if required by Parent, the posting by such Person of a bond in 
customary amount as indemnity against any claim that may be made 
against it with respect to such Certificate, Parent will issue in 
exchange for such lost, stolen or destroyed Certificate cash in an 
amount equal to the Per Share Amount multiplied by the number of 
Shares represented by such Certificate.

     Section 4.4.  Closing of the Company's Transfer Books.  At the 
Effective Date, the stock transfer books of the Company 
shall be closed and no transfer of shares of Company Common Stock 
shall be made thereafter.  In the event that, after the Effective 
Date, Certificates are presented to the Surviving Corporation, they 
shall be canceled and exchanged for cash in an amount equal to the 
Per Share Amount multiplied by the number of Shares represented by 
such Certificate as provided in this Article IV.

     Section 4.5.  Closing.  The closing of the transactions contemplated 
by this Agreement (the "Closing") shall take place (i) at the offices of 
Willkie Farr & Gallagher, 787 Seventh Avenue, New York, New York 
10019, at 9:00 A.M. local time on the day which is the second 
Business Day after the day on which the last of the conditions set 
forth in Articles XII, XIII and XIV is fulfilled or waived or (ii) 
at such other time and place as Parent and the Company shall agree 
in writing (the "Closing Date").
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                                 ARTICLE V.

                REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY

     The Company hereby represents and warrants to Parent and 
Merger Sub as follows:

     Section 5.1.  Corporate Organization.  The Company is a corporation 
duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws 
of the State of Delaware, and has all requisite corporate power and 
authority to own or lease its properties and assets and to conduct 
its business as now conducted.  Copies of the Certificate of 
Incorporation and By-Laws of the Company, with all amendments 
thereto to the date hereof, have been furnished to Parent or its 
representatives, and such copies are accurate and complete.

     Section 5.2.  Qualification to Do Business; Authorization 
and Validity of Agreement.  The Company is duly qualified to do business
as a foreign corporation and is in good standing in every jurisdiction in 
which the character of the properties and assets owned or leased by it or 
the nature of the business conducted by it makes such qualification 
necessary.  Schedule 5.2 sets forth all jurisdictions in which the 
Company is qualified to do business.  The Company has all requisite 
corporate power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to 
carry out its obligations hereunder.  The execution and delivery by 
the Company of this Agreement and the performance of the Company's 
obligations hereunder have been duly authorized by all necessary 
corporate action by the Board of Directors of the Company, and 
(except for the approval of the holders of the Company Common Stock 
as contemplated by Section 12.1) no other corporate proceedings on 
the part of the Company are necessary to authorize such execution, 
delivery and performance.  This Agreement has been duly executed by 
the Company and constitutes the Company's valid and binding 
obligation, enforceable against the Company in accordance with its 
terms.

     Section 5.3.  No Conflict or Violation.  Except as set forth on 
Schedule 5.3, and assuming the consents, approvals, authorizations 
or permits and filings or notifications referred to in Section 5.4 
are duly and timely obtained or made and the approval of the Merger 
and this Agreement by the holders of Company Common Stock has been 
obtained, the execution, delivery and performance by the Company of 
this Agreement do not, and the consummation by the Company of the 
Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby will not (i) 
violate or conflict with any provision of the Certificate of 
Incorporation or By-Laws of the Company, (ii) violate any provision 
of law, or any order, judgment or decree of any court or other 
governmental or regulatory authority, (iii) violate or result in a 
breach of or constitute (with due notice or lapse of time or both) a 



default under any contract, lease, loan agreement, mortgage, 
security agreement, trust indenture or other agreement or instrument 
to which the Company is a party or by which it is bound or to which 
any of its properties or assets is subject, (iv) result in the 
creation or imposition of any Lien upon any of the assets, 
properties or rights of the Company, or (v) result in the 
cancellation, modification, revocation or suspension of any of the 
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Licenses and Permits, other than, in the case of (iii), (iv) and (v) 
above, any such conflicts, violations, defaults, rights or Liens 
that, individually or in the aggregate, would not have a material 
adverse effect on the Company or its business as now conducted, 
materially impair the ability of the Company to perform its 
obligations thereunder or have a material adverse effect on the 
ability of the Company to consummate the transactions contemplated 
hereby.

     Section 5.4.  Consents and Approvals.  Schedule 5.4 sets forth a 
true and complete list of each consent, waiver, authorization or 
approval of any Governmental Entity, or of any other Person, and 
each declaration to or filing or registration with any such 
Governmental Entity, that is required in connection with the 
execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company or the 
performance by the Company of its obligations hereunder, except 
where the failure to obtain any such consent, waiver, authorization 
or approval or to make such declaration of filing would not have a 
material adverse effect on the Company or its business as now 
conducted or have a material adverse effect on the ability of the 
Company to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby.

     Section 5.5.  Capital Stock and Related Matters.  As 
of the date hereof, the authorized capital stock of the Company 
consists of 12,000 shares of Company Common Stock, of which 10,970 
shares are issued (7,461 shares of Company Common Stock are held as 
treasury stock and 3,509 shares of Company Common Stock are 
outstanding).  Schedule 5.5 sets forth the names of the beneficial 
and record owners of the Company Common Stock and the number of 
shares held by each such owner.  The shares of Company Common Stock 
being purchased by Merger Sub on the date hereof (the "Merger Sub-
Owned Shares") constitute a majority of the issued and outstanding 
shares of Company Common Stock.  The Company Common Stock has been 
duly authorized and validly issued and is fully paid and 
nonassessable.  Except as set forth above or on Schedule 5.5, no 
shares of Company Common Stock are outstanding; the Company does not 
have outstanding any securities convertible into or exchangeable for 
any shares of capital stock, any rights to subscribe for or to 
purchase or any options for the purchase of, or any agreements 
providing for the issuance (contingent or otherwise) of, or any 
calls, commitments or claims of any other character relating to the 
issuance of, any capital stock, or any stock or securities 
convertible into or exchangeable for any capital stock; and the 
Company is not subject to any obligation (contingent or otherwise) 
to repurchase or otherwise acquire or retire, or to register under 
the Securities Act, any shares of capital stock.  The Company does 
not have outstanding any bonds, debentures, notes or other 
obligations the holders of which have the right to vote (or 
convertible into or exercisable for securities having the right to 
vote) with the stockholders of the Company on any matter.

     Section 5.6.  Subsidiaries and Equity Investments.  
The Company has no Subsidiaries.  Except as set forth on Schedule 
5.6, the Company does not directly or indirectly own any interest in 
any other corporation, partnership, joint venture or other business 
association or entity.
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     Section 5.7.  Financial Statements.  The Company has heretofore 
furnished to Parent (a) copies of the audited balance sheets of the 
Company as of December 31, 1996 and 1997 audited by Arthur Andersen 
LLP, together with the related audited statements of operations and 
cash flows for the fiscal years then ended and the notes thereto, 
accompanied by the reports thereon of such public accountants, and 
(b) copies of the balance sheet of the Company as of June 26, 1998, 
together with the related unaudited statements of operations and 
cash flows for the period then ended (all the financial statements 
referred to in clauses (a) and (b) above being hereinafter 
collectively referred to as the "Financial Statements").  The 
Financial Statements, including the notes thereto, (i) were prepared 
in accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis throughout the 
periods covered thereby, (ii) present fairly the financial position, 
results of operations and cash flows of the Company as of such dates 
and for the periods then ended (subject, in the case of the 



unaudited interim Financial Statements, to typical accrual practices 
consistent with past practice and to normal year-end audit 
adjustments consistent with prior periods), (iii) are complete, 
correct and in accordance with the books of account and records of 
the Company, (iv) can be legitimately reconciled with the financial 
statements and the financial records maintained and the accounting 
methods applied by the Company for federal income tax purposes and 
(v) reflect accurately in all material respects all costs and 
expenses of the Company.

     Section 5.8.  Absence of Certain Changes or Events.

     (a)   Except as set forth on Schedule 5.8, since December 
31, 1997, there has not been:

           (i)  any material adverse change in the business of 
   the Company, or any event that has had a material adverse 
   effect on the foregoing, except for any material adverse effect 
   resulting from general economic conditions including, but not 
   limited to, reductions in product margins;

           (ii)  any material loss, damage, destruction or other 
   casualty to the assets or properties of the Company;

           (iii)  any change in any method of accounting or 
   accounting practice of the Company; or

           (iv)  any loss of the employment, services or 
   benefits of any key employee of the Company.

     (b)   Since December 31, 1997, the Company has operated in 
the ordinary course of its businesses consistent with past practice 
and, except as set forth on Schedule 5.8 hereto, has not:

           (i)  incurred any material obligation or liability 
   (whether absolute, accrued, contingent or otherwise) except in 
   the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;
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           (ii)  failed to discharge or satisfy any Lien or pay 
   or satisfy any obligation or liability (whether absolute, 
   accrued, contingent or otherwise), other than liabilities being 
   contested in good faith and for which adequate reserves have 
   been provided and Liens arising in the ordinary course of 
   business that do not, individually or in the aggregate, 
   interfere with the use, operation, enjoyment or marketability 
   of any of its assets, properties or rights;

           (iii)  mortgaged, pledged or subjected to any Lien 
   any of its assets, properties or rights, except for mechanics' 

   Liens and Liens for Taxes not yet due and payable and Liens 
   arising in the ordinary course of business that do not, 
   individually or in the aggregate, interfere with the use, 
   operation, enjoyment or marketability of any of its assets, 
   properties or rights;

           (iv)  sold or transferred any of its assets or 
   canceled any debts or claims or waived any rights, except in 
   the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;

           (v)  disposed of any patents, trademarks or 
   copyrights or any patent, trademark or copyright applications;

           (vi)  defaulted on any material obligation;

           (vii)  entered into any transaction material to its 
   business, except in the ordinary course of business consistent 
   with past practice;

           (viii)  written down the value of any inventory or 
   written off as uncollectible any of its accounts receivable or 
   any portion thereof not reflected in the December 31, 1997 
   Balance Sheet;

           (ix)  granted any increase in the compensation or 
   benefits of its employees other than increases in accordance 
   with past practice or entered into any employment or severance 
   agreement or arrangement with any of them;

           (x)  made any capital expenditure in excess of 



   $25,000, or additions to property, plant and equipment used in 
   its operations other than ordinary repairs and maintenance;

           (xi)  laid off any of its employees;

           (xii)  incurred any obligation or liability for the 
   payment of severance benefits;

           (xiii)  declared, paid, or set aside for payment any 
   dividend or other distribution in respect of shares of its 
   capital stock or other securities, or redeemed, purchased or 
   otherwise acquired, directly or indirectly, any shares of its 
   capital stock or other securities, or agreed to do so; or
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           (xiv)  entered into any agreement or made any 
   commitment to do any of the foregoing.

     Section 5.9.  Tax Matters.  Except as disclosed on Schedule 5.9, 
(i) the Company has filed when due all Tax Returns required by applicable 
law to be filed and the Company has paid all Taxes required to be paid in 
respect of the periods covered by such Tax Returns; (ii) the 
information contained in such Tax Returns is true, complete and 
accurate; (iii) Taxes of the Company for periods ending on or before 
the Closing Date (whether or not shown on any Tax Return), if 
required to have been paid, have been paid (except for Taxes which 
are being contested in good faith); (iv) there is no action, suit, 
proceeding, investigation, audit or claim now pending against, or 
with respect to, the Company in respect of any Tax or assessment, 
nor, to the knowledge of the Company, is there any claim for 
additional Tax or assessment asserted by any Tax authority; (v) any 
liability of the Company for Taxes that are not yet due and payable, 
or which are being contested in good faith, have been provided for 
in the financial statements of the Company in accordance with GAAP; 
(vi) to the knowledge of the Company, since January 1, 1997, no 
claim has been made by any Tax authority in a jurisdiction where the 
Company does not currently file a Tax Return that either it is or 
may be subject to Tax by such jurisdiction, nor to the knowledge of 
the Company, is any such assertion threatened; (vii) there is no 
outstanding request for any extension of time within which to pay 
any Taxes or file any Tax Returns; (viii) there has been no waiver 
or extension of any applicable statute of limitations for the 
assessment or collection of any Taxes of the Company; (ix) none of 
the assets, properties or rights of the Company are "tax-exempt use 
property" within the meaning of Section 168(h) of the Code; (x) none 
of the assets, properties or rights of the Company include any lease 
made pursuant to former Section 168(f)(8) of the Internal Revenue 
Code of 1954; (xi) there is no Lien affecting any of the assets, 
properties or rights of the Company that arose in connection with 
any failure or alleged failure to pay any Tax; (xii) the Company has 
not filed any agreement or consent under Section 341(f) of the Code; 
(xiii) the Company is not a party to any agreement, whether written 
or unwritten, providing for the payment of Taxes, payment for Tax 
losses, entitlements to refunds or similar Tax matters; (xiv) no 
ruling with respect to Taxes (other than a request for determination 
of the status of a qualified pension plan) has been requested by or 
on behalf of the Company; (xv) the Company has not been a United 
States real property holding corporation within the meaning of 
Section 897(c)(2) of the Code during the applicable period specified 
in Section 897(c)(1)(A)(ii) of the Code; and (xvi) the Company has 
withheld and paid all material Taxes required to be withheld in 
connection with any amounts paid or owing to any employee, creditor, 
independent contractor or other third party.

     Section 5.10.  Absence of Undisclosed Liabilities.  
Except as set forth on Schedule 5.10, to its knowledge, the Company 
has no indebtedness or liability, absolute or contingent, which is 
not shown or provided for on the December 31, 1997 Balance Sheet 
other than liabilities as shall have been incurred or accrued in the 
ordinary course of business since December 31, 1997.  Except as 
shown in the December 31, 1997 Balance Sheet or on Schedule 5.10, 
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the Company is not directly or indirectly liable upon or with 
respect to (by discount, repurchase agreements or otherwise), or 
obliged in any other way to provide funds in respect of, or to 
guarantee or assume, any debt, obligation or dividend of any Person, 
except endorsements in the ordinary course of business in connection 
with the deposit, in banks or other financial institutions, of items 
for collection.



     Section 5.11.  Owned Real Property.

     (a)   Schedule 5.11 sets forth a complete and accurate 
description of all real property owned by the Company (the "Owned 
Real Property"), including the recorded metes and bounds or other  
recorded description of each land parcel.

     (b)   The Company has good and marketable title in fee 
simple to the Owned Real Property and the Owned Real Property is not 
subject to any Liens (other than the Lien of current property Taxes 
and assessments not in default); and none of such real properties is 
subject to any easements, rights of way, licenses, grants, building 
or use restrictions, exceptions, reservations, limitations or other 
impediments that materially and adversely affect the value thereof 
or that materially interfere with or impair the present and 
continued use thereof in the usual and normal conduct of the 
Company's businesses.  Except as set forth on Schedule 5.11, none of 
the Owned Real Property is subject to any lease, license or other 
agreement granting to any Person or entity any right to the use, 
occupancy or enjoyment of such property or any portion thereof.

     (c)   All improvements on the Owned Real Property and the 
operations therein conducted conform to all applicable health, fire, 
environmental, safety, zoning and building laws, ordinances and 
administrative regulations, Permits and other regulations 
(including, without limitation, the Americans with Disabilities 
Act), except for possible nonconforming uses or violations that do 
not and will not materially interfere with the present use, 
operation or maintenance thereof by the Company as now used, 
operated or maintained or access thereto, and that do not and will 
not materially affect the value thereof, and the Company has not 
received any notice to the contrary.  To the knowledge of the 
Company, all buildings, structures, improvements and fixtures owned, 
leased or used by the Company conform to all applicable codes and 
rules adopted by national, state and local associations and boards 
of insurance underwriters and the Company has not received any 
notice to the contrary.

     (d)   The buildings, driveways and all other structures and 
improvements upon the Owned Real Property are all within the 
boundary lines of such property or have the benefit of valid, 
perpetual and non-terminable easements and there are no 
encroachments thereon that would materially affect the use thereof.  
To the knowledge of the Company, there are no outstanding 
requirements or recommendations by any insurance company that has 
issued a policy covering the Owned Real Property, or by any board of 
fire underwriters or other body exercising similar functions, 
requiring or recommending any repairs or work to be done on any such 
property.
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     (e)   The Company has not received any notice from any 
utility company or municipality of any fact or condition which could 
result in the discontinuation of presently available or otherwise 
necessary sewer, water, electric, gas, telephone or other utilities 
or services for any of the Owned Real Property.

     (f)   There are no actions, suits, proceedings or 
governmental investigations pending or, to the knowledge of the 
Company, threatened against the Owned Real Property.  The Company 
does not have any knowledge of, and the Company has not received any 
notice of, any pending or contemplated (i) rezoning or condemnation 
proceeding affecting the Owned Real Property; (ii) special 
assessment against the Owned Real Property; or (iii) litigation 
against the Company with respect to the Owned Real Property, the use 
thereof, or agreements affecting the same.

     (g)   To the knowledge of the Company, each parcel of real 
property comprising any part of the Owned Real Property, including 
without limitation all buildings and improvements thereon, and the 
present use, operation or condition thereof:  (i) is assessed as one 
or more separate tax lots and no part of such property is part of a 
tax lot which includes other property which is not a part of the 
Owned Real Property; (ii) is not located in an area designated as a 
flood zone; and (iii) is not subject to any purchase option, right 
of first refusal or first offer or other similar right.

     (h)   All brokerage commissions and other compensation and 
fees payable by the Company by reason of the Company's acquisition 
of the Owned Real Property have been paid in full.

     (i)   Except for defects and deferred maintenance items 
which do not have a material adverse effect on the use of the Owned 
Real Property for the purposes for which they are currently being 
used in connection with the business of the Company, (x) the 



buildings, structures, improvements and fixtures at the Owned Real 
Properties are all in good operating condition and repair and are 
fully usable for their intended purposes in connection with the 
business of the Company (y) the plumbing, electrical, heating, air 
conditioning, elevator, ventilating and all other mechanical or 
structural systems in such buildings or improvements located at the 
Owned Real Property are in good working order and condition, and the 
roof, basement and foundation walls of such buildings and 
improvements are in good condition and free of leaks and other 
defects and (z) there are no physical defects or deferred 
maintenance items at the Owned Real Property that interfere with or 
impede the Company's use of the Owned Real Property in the ordinary 
course of its business.

     (j)   To the Company's knowledge, each parcel of the Owned 
Real Property is occupied and used by the Company pursuant to and in 
conformity with a validly issued final certificate of occupancy 
which currently remains in effect.  Except as set forth on Schedule 
5.11, there is currently no construction or development activity at 
or affecting the Owned Real Property and, except as set forth on 
Schedule 5.11, there has been no such activity during 1998.
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     (k)   Except as set forth on Schedule 5.11, each parcel of 
the Owned Real Property is used and occupied by the Company solely 
in the pursuit of its business and no portion thereof is leased or 
licensed to, or used or occupied by, any Person other than the 
Company.

     (l)   True and complete copies of all existing policies of 
title insurance for all parcels of the Owned Real Property for which 
such policies exist, together with all surveys referred to in such 
title insurance policies or otherwise in the Company's possession, 
have been delivered to Parent and are identified on Schedule 5.11 
hereto.

     (m)   To the knowledge of the Company, access from public 
streets and provision for parking and loading/unloading at each 
parcel of the Owned Real Property conforms to all applicable legal 
requirements and is adequate for the conduct of the business of the 
Company in the normal course.  To the knowledge of the Company, 
there is no pending or threatened governmental action to modify such 
access from public streets into the Owned Real Property.

     Section 5.12.  Leases.

     (a)   Schedule 5.12 sets forth a list of all leases, 
licenses, permits, subleases and occupancy agreements, together with 
all amendments and supplements thereto, with respect to all 
properties in which the Company has a leasehold interest, whether as 
lessor or lessee (each, a "Lease" and collectively, the "Leases"; 
the property covered by Leases under which the Company is a lessee 
is referred to herein as the "Leased Real Property").  The Company 
has furnished true, correct and complete copies of all Leases to 
Parent or its representatives.  No option has been exercised under 
any of such Leases, except options whose exercise has been evidenced 
by a written document, a true, complete and accurate copy of which 
has been delivered to Parent or its representatives with the 
corresponding Lease.  Except as set forth on Schedule 5.12, the 
transactions contemplated by this Agreement do not require the 
consent or approval of the other party to the Leases, nor will such 
transactions violate any Lease or cause the Company to be in default 
under any Lease.

     (b)   Each Lease is in full force and effect and no Lease 
has been modified or amended except pursuant to an amendment 
referred to on Schedule 5.12. Neither the Company nor any other 
party to a Lease has given to the other party written  notice of or 
has made a claim with respect to any breach or default. The Company 
is not in default under any Lease and, to the knowledge of the 
Company, no other party to a Lease is in default.

     (c)  Except as set forth on Schedule 5.12, none of the 
Leased Real Property is subject to any sublease, license or other 
agreement granting to any Person or entity any right to the use, 
occupancy or enjoyment of such property or any portion thereof.  The 
Company has not received any notice from any utility company or 
municipality of any fact or condition which could result in the 
discontinuation of presently available or otherwise necessary sewer, 
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water, electric, gas, telephone or other utilities or services for 



any of the Leased Real Property. The Leased Real Property, all 
improvements thereon and thereto, and the operations therein 
conducted conform to all applicable health, fire, insurance, 
environmental, safety, zoning and building laws, ordinances and 
administrative regulations, Permits and other regulations 
(including, without limitation, the Americans with Disabilities Act) 
except for possible nonconforming uses or violations that do not and 
will not materially interfere with the present use, operation or 
maintenance thereof by the Company as now used, operated or 
maintained or access thereto, and that do not and will not 
materially affect the value thereof, and the Company has not 
received any notice to the contrary.

     (d)   Except for defects which do not have a material 
adverse effect on the use of the Leased Real Property for the 
purposes for which it is currently being used in connection with the 
business of the Company, (x) the plumbing, electrical, heating, air 
conditioning, elevator, ventilating and all other mechanical or 
structural systems for which the Company is responsible under the 
Leases in the buildings or improvements are in good working order 
and condition, and the roof, basement and foundation walls of such 
buildings and improvements for which the Company is responsible 
under the Leases are in good condition and free of leaks and other 
defects, (y) all such mechanical and structural systems and such 
roofs, basement and foundation walls for which others are 
responsible under said Leases are in good working order and 
condition and free of leaks and other defects and (z) there are no 
other physical defects or deferred maintenance items at any Leased 
Real Property that interfere with or impede the Company's use of 
such properties in the ordinary course of its business or that the 
Company is obligated under any of the Leases to repair or otherwise 
correct.

     (e)   There are no guaranties (from the Company or from 
other Persons) in favor of the lessors of any of the Leased Real 
Property.

     (f)   The Company has not sold, assigned, transferred, 
pledged or encumbered all or any part of its leasehold interests in 
the Leased Real Property.

     (g)   To the knowledge of the Company, access from public 
streets and provision for parking and loading/unloading at any 
Leased Real Property conforms to all applicable legal requirements 
and is adequate for the conduct of the business of the Company in 
the normal course.

     (h)   Except as set forth on Schedule 5.12, to the 
knowledge of the Company, there is no pending or threatened:  (i) 
condemnation of any part of the Leased Real Property by any 
Governmental Entity; (ii) special assessment against any part of the 
Leased Real Property; or (iii) litigation against the Company or any 
lessor for breach of any restrictive covenant affecting any part of 
the Leased Real Property.
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     Section 5.13.  Assets of the Company.

     (a)   The assets, properties and rights of the Company  (i) 
acquired as of December 31, 1997 are set forth in the book 
depreciation workpapers as of December 31, 1997 and (ii) acquired 
since December 31, 1997 and on or prior to June 26, 1998 are listed 
on the capital expense rollforward ((i) and (ii) being referred to 
collectively as the "Fixed Asset Workpapers"), furnished to Parent 
constitute all of the assets and rights which are used in the 
operation of the businesses of the Company immediately prior to 
Closing and which are necessary or required for the conduct of such 
businesses as currently conducted.  There are no material assets, 
properties, rights or interests of any kind or nature that the 
Company has been using, holding or operating in its businesses prior 
to the Closing that will not be used, held or owned by the Company 
immediately following the Closing.

     (b)   The Company has good and marketable title, free and 
clear of any Liens, to, or a valid leasehold interest under 
enforceable leases in, all of the assets, properties and rights of 
the Company reflected in the Company's Financial Statements, except 
(i) Liens for current Taxes not yet delinquent or which are being 
contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings; (ii) such 
secured indebtedness as is disclosed in the Company's Financial 
Statements; (iii) Liens and imperfections of title which do not 
individually or in the aggregate materially detract from the value, 
or impair the use, of the properties as currently used; (iv) 



inchoate mechanics and materialmen's Liens for construction in 
progress; (v) Liens of workmen, repairmen, warehousemen and carriers 
arising in the ordinary course of business which are not, either 
individual or in the aggregate, material in amount; and (vi) in the 
case of leased property, Liens arising as a result of actions or 
inactions of the lessor or owner of such properties unrelated to any 
default by the Company.

     (c)   A complete and correct list and brief description of 
each item of Equipment and Machinery having an original purchase 
cost or aggregate lease cost exceeding $25,000 is included in the 
Fixed Asset Workpapers, other than fixed assets acquired subsequent 
to June 26, 1998.  The Equipment and Machinery is in good operating 
condition and repair (normal wear and tear excepted).

     Section 5.14.  Intellectual Property; Intangible Assets.

     (a)   Schedule 5.14 sets forth a complete and correct listing 
of all applications, registrations and patents included in the 
Intellectual Property.  The Company owns, or has a valid license or 
otherwise has the right to use, in all jurisdictions in which it 
carries on business, all Intellectual Property without violating or 
conflicting with the rights of others.  Except as set forth on 
Schedule 5.14, all Intellectual Property is owned by the Company, 
free and clear of all Liens, except (i) such secured indebtedness as 
is disclosed in the Company's Financial Statements and (ii) in the 
case of licensed Intellectual Property, Liens arising as a result of 
actions or inactions of the licensee or owner of such Intellectual 
Properties unrelated to any default by the Company.  There has not 
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been communicated to the Company the threat of any claim that the 
holder of such Intellectual Property is in violation or infringement 
of any service mark, patent, trademark, trade name, trademark or 
trade name registration, copyright or copyright registration of any 
other Person.  To the Company's knowledge, the consummation of the 
transactions contemplated by this Agreement will not prohibit the 
Company from using any of the Intellectual Property in a manner 
substantially similar to its current use of such Intellectual 
Property in its businesses.

     (b)   Schedule 5.14 sets forth a true and complete list of 
all of the Intangible Assets and a summary description of each such 
item.  There is no restriction affecting the use of any of the 
Intangible Assets, and no license has been granted with respect 
thereto.  To the knowledge of the Company, each of the Intangible 
Assets is valid and in good standing, is not currently being 
challenged, is not involved in any pending or threatened 
administrative or judicial proceeding, and does not conflict with 
any rights of any other Person.  The Company's rights in and to the 
Intangible Assets are sufficient and adequate in all material 
respects to permit the conduct of the businesses of the Company as 
now conducted and none of the products or operations of the 
businesses of the Company involves any infringement of any 
proprietary right of any other Person.

     Section 5.15.  Licenses and Permits.  Schedule 5.15 sets forth a 
true and complete list of all licenses, permits, franchises, 
authorizations and approvals issued or granted to the Company by any 
Governmental Entity (the "Licenses and Permits"), and all pending 
applications therefor.  To the knowledge of the Company, each 
License and Permit has been duly obtained, is valid and in full 
force and effect, and is not subject to any pending or threatened 
administrative or judicial proceeding to revoke, cancel, suspend or 
declare such License and Permit invalid in any respect.  The 
Licenses and Permits are sufficient and adequate in all material 
respects to permit the continued lawful conduct of the businesses of 
the Company in the manner now conducted and, to the knowledge of the 
Company, none of the operations of the Company are being conducted 
in a manner that violates any of the terms or conditions under which 
any License and Permit was granted.  To the knowledge of the 
Company, the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this 
Agreement will not result in the termination or suspension of any 
License or Permit.

     Section 5.16.  Compliance with Law.  The operations of the 
businesses of the Company have been conducted in accordance with all 
applicable laws, regulations, orders and other requirements of all 
courts and other governmental or regulatory authorities having 
jurisdiction over the Company and its assets, properties and 
operations, except for possible violations which have not had and 
will not have a material adverse effect on the Company or its 
business as now conducted.  The Company has not received notice of 
any violation of any such law, regulation, order or other legal 



requirement, and is not in default with respect to any order, writ, 
judgment, award, injunction or decree of any national, state or 
local court or governmental or regulatory authority or arbitrator, 
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domestic or foreign, applicable to the Company or any of its assets, 
properties or operations except for possible defaults which have not 
had and will not have a material adverse effect on the Company or 
its business as now conducted.  This Section 5.16 does not apply to 
laws, regulations, order and other requirements relating to employee 
plans (which are covered by Section 5.20 hereof), labor matters 
(which are covered by Section 5.25 hereof) and environmental matters 
(which are covered by Section 5.26 hereof).

     Section 5.17.  Litigation.  Except as set forth on Schedule 5.17, 
there are no claims, actions, suits, proceedings, labor disputes or 
investigations pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, 
threatened, before any national, state or local court or 
governmental or regulatory authority, domestic or foreign, or before 
any arbitrator of any nature, brought by or against the Company or, 
to the knowledge of the Company, any of its officers, directors, 
employees, agents or Affiliates involving, affecting or relating to 
the Company, the assets, properties or rights of the Company or the 
transactions contemplated by this Agreement, nor is any basis known 
to the Company for any such action, suit, proceeding or 
investigation.  Schedule 5.17 sets forth a list and a summary 
description of all such pending actions, suits, proceedings, 
disputes or investigations.  Neither the Company nor its assets, 
properties or rights are subject to any order, writ, judgment, 
award, injunction or decree of any national, state or local court or 
governmental or regulatory authority or arbitrator, domestic or 
foreign, that affects or might affect the businesses, assets, 
properties or rights of the Company, or that would or might 
materially interfere with the transactions contemplated by this 
Agreement.

     Section 5.18.  Contracts.

     (a)   Except for employment contracts deemed to have been 
created by conduct, oral statements, written rules or policies or 
other publications, none of which were published or stated intending 
to create an employment contract nor, to the knowledge of the 
Company, has been asserted as the basis for the claimed existence of 
an employment contract, Schedule 5.18 sets forth a complete and 
correct list and, if such contract is not in writing, a summary 
description of all Contracts (as in effect on the date hereof).  To 
the extent that the items listed in Schedules 5.4, 5.8, 5.10, 5.11, 
5.12, 5.14 and 5.15 may be considered Contracts, such items need not 
be included on the list set forth on Schedule 5.18.

     (b)   Each Contract is valid, binding and enforceable 
against the Company in accordance with its terms and is in full 
force and effect on the date hereof.  The Company is not in default 
or delinquent in performance, status or any other respect (claimed 
or actual) in connection with, any Contract, and no event has 
occurred which, with due notice or lapse of time or both, would 
constitute such a default, except in each such case possible 
defaults as to which the Company has no knowledge and which would 
not have a material adverse effect on the Company or its business as 
now conducted.  To the knowledge of the Company, no other party to 
any Contract is in default in respect thereof, and no event has 
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occurred which, with due notice or lapse of time or both, would 
constitute such a default, except for possible defaults which would 
not have a material adverse effect on the Company or its business as 
now conducted.  The Company has delivered to Parent or its 
representatives true and complete originals or copies of all the 
Contracts.

     Section 5.19.  Inventories.  The inventories of the Company 
(including tooling, spare parts and supplies) reflected on the 
December 31, 1997 Balance Sheet, or acquired by the Company after 
the date thereof and prior to the Closing Date, are carried at not 
more than the lower of cost or market, and the Company has no reason 
to believe that such inventories include any obsolete inventory or 
surplus inventory for which adequate reserves have not been 
established on the Financial Statements.  As used herein, "obsolete 
inventory" is inventory which, at December 31, 1997, was not usable 
or salable in the lawful and ordinary course of business of the 
Company as now conducted because of legal restrictions, failure to 
meet specifications, loss of market, damage, physical deterioration 
or for any other cause, in each case net of reserves provided 



therefor on the December 31, 1997 Balance Sheet; and "surplus 
inventory" is inventory that, at December 31, 1997, exceeded known 
or anticipated requirements in the reasonable business judgment of 
the Company.

     Section 5.20.  Employee Plans.

     (a)   Schedule 5.20(a) sets forth all pension, savings, 
retirement, health, insurance, severance and other employee benefit 
or fringe benefit plans maintained or sponsored by the Company and 
any trade or business (whether or not incorporated) under common 
control with the Company within the meaning of Sections 414(b), (c), 
(m) or (o) of the Code (the "Controlled Group"), or with respect to 
which the Company has any responsibility or liability (collectively 
referred to herein as the "Plans").  Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
"Plans" shall not include employment related contracts deemed to 
have been created by conduct, oral statements, written rules or 
policies or other publications, none of which were published or 
stated intending to create an employment related contract nor, to 
the knowledge of the Company, has been asserted as the basis for the 
claimed existence of an employment related contract.  With respect 
to the Plans, the Company and any member of the Controlled Group 
have delivered to Parent or its representatives current copies of:  
(i) the Plan documents, and, where applicable, related trust 
agreements, and any related agreements which are in writing; (ii) 
summary Plan descriptions; (iii) the most recent Internal Revenue 
Service determination letter relating to each Plan for which a 
letter of determination was obtained; (iv) to the extent required to 
be filed, the most recent Annual Report (Form 5500 Series and 
accompanying schedules of each Plan and applicable financial 
statements) as filed with the Internal Revenue Service; and (v) 
audited financial statements, if any.

     (b)   In all material respects, each Plan conforms to, and 
its administration is in substantial compliance with, all applicable 
requirements of law, including, without limitation, ERISA and the 
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Code and all of the Plans are in full force and effect as written, 
and all premiums, contributions and other payments required to be 
made by the Company or any member of the Controlled Group under the 
terms of any Plan have been made or accrued.

     (c)   Each Plan maintained by the Company or any member of 
the Controlled Group that is intended to be qualified under Section 
401(a) of the Code and each trust maintained pursuant thereto has 
been determined to be exempt from Federal taxation by the Internal 
Revenue Service and has a favorable determination letter from the 
Internal Revenue Service with respect to each such Plan, and, to the 
knowledge of the Company, nothing has occurred since the date of 
such letter which could adversely impact such qualification and tax 
exemption.  No Plan maintained by the Company or any member of the 
Controlled Group that is an employee welfare benefit plan as defined 
in Section 3(1) of ERISA (the "Welfare Plan") is funded through a 
voluntary employees' beneficiary association as defined in Section 
501(c)(9) of the Code.

     (d)   Except as set forth in Schedule 5.20(d) neither the 
Company nor any member of the Controlled Group has maintained, 
contributed to or incurred any liability with respect to any Plan 
subject to Title IV of ERISA or Section 412 of the Code (a "Pension 
Plan") within the six-year period ending on the date of this 
Agreement.  There is no "amount of unfunded benefit liabilities," as 
defined in Section 4001(a)(18) of ERISA, in any of the Pension 
Plans.  The "benefit liabilities", as defined in Section 4001(a)(16) 
of ERISA, of each of the Pension Plans do not exceed the fair market 
value of the assets of such Pension Plan.  Neither the Company nor 
any member of the Controlled Group has incurred any material 
liability under Section 4062 of ERISA to the Pension Benefit 
Guaranty Corporation or to a trustee appointed under Section 4042 of 
ERISA which remains unsatisfied.  Neither the Company nor any member 
of the Controlled Group has engaged in any transaction described in 
Section 4069 of ERISA.

     (e)   There are no multiemployer plans (as defined in 
Subsection 3(37) of ERISA) ("Multiemployer Plans") to which the 
Company or any other member of the Controlled Group is, or has been 
within the six-year period ending on the date of this Agreement, 
required to make a contribution or other payment. Neither the 
Company nor any member of the Controlled Group has incurred any 
withdrawal liability on account of a complete or partial withdrawal 
from any Multiemployer Plan, nor has any of them incurred any 
liability due to the termination or reorganization of such a 
Multiemployer Plan, in either case which remains unsatisfied.



     (f)   There has been no non-exempt prohibited transaction 
(within the meaning of Section 4975 of the Code or Part 4 of 
Subtitle B of Title I of ERISA) with respect to any Plan or penalty 
incurred with respect to any Plan under Section 502(i) of ERISA.

     (g)   Except as set forth on Schedule 5.20(g), the Company 
does not maintain any Plan providing post-retirement benefits other 
than Plans qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code 
("Post-Retirement Benefits").  The Company is not liable for 
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Post-Retirement Benefits under any plan not maintained by the 
Company.  The Company has complied in all material respects with the 
requirements of Section 4980B of the Code and Sections 601 et seq. 
of ERISA relating to continuation coverage for group health plans.  

     (h)   There has been no material violation of ERISA or the 
Code with respect to the filing of applicable reports, documents and 
notices regarding the Plans with the Secretary of Labor or the 
Secretary of the Treasury or the furnishing of required reports, 
documents or notices to the participants or beneficiaries of the 
Plans.

     (i)   There are no pending actions, claims or lawsuits 
which have been asserted, instituted or, to the knowledge of the 
Company, threatened, against the Plans, the assets of any of the 
trusts under such Plans or the Plan sponsor or the Plan 
administrator, or, to the knowledge of the Company, against any 
fiduciary of the Plans with respect to the operation of such Plans 
(other than routine benefit claims).

     (j)   The Plans have been maintained, in all material 
respects, in accordance with their terms and with all provisions of 
ERISA and the Code (including rules and regulations thereunder) and 
other applicable federal and state laws and regulations.

     (k)   There has been no mass layoff or plant closing as 
defined by the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act or 
any similar state or local "plant closing" law with respect to the 
employees of the Company which resulted in any liability of the 
Company which remains unsatisfied.

     (l)   To the knowledge of the Company, the execution of, 
and performance of the transactions contemplated in, this Agreement 
will not, either alone or upon the occurrence of events occurring 
subsequent to the date hereof and up to and including the Closing 
Date, result in (i) except as set forth on Schedule 5.20(l), any 
payment (whether of severance pay or otherwise), acceleration, 
forgiveness of indebtedness, vesting, distribution, increase in 
benefits or obligation to fund benefits with respect to any employee 
or (ii) the Company's failing to be able to deduct for Federal 
income tax purposes any items on account of Section 280G of the 
Code.

     Section 5.21. Small Business Corporation.  To the knowledge 
of the Company, the Company qualifies as a "small business 
corporation" within the meaning of Section 1361(b) of the Code, but 
without regard to paragraph (1)(C) thereof.

     Section 5.22.  Insurance.  Schedule 5.22 lists the fidelity bonds 
and the aggregate coverage amount and type and generally applicable 
deductibles of all policies of title, liability, fire, casualty, 
business interruption, workers' compensation and other forms of 
insurance insuring the Company and its assets, properties and 
operations.  The Company has furnished a true, complete and accurate 
copy of all such policies and bonds to Parent or its 
representatives.  Except as set forth on Schedule 5.22, all such 
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policies and bonds are in full force and effect.  The Company shall 
maintain the coverage under all policies and bonds listed on 
Schedule 5.22 in full force and effect through the Closing Date.  To 
the knowledge of the Company, the Company is not in default under 
any provisions of any such policy of insurance nor has the Company 
received notice of cancellation of any such insurance.  There is no 
claim by the Company pending under any of such policies or bonds as 
to which coverage has been questioned, denied or disputed by the 
underwriters of such policies or bonds.  The insurance maintained by 
the Company in connection with its business is adequate in 
accordance with industry standards and the requirements of any 
applicable Leases.



     Section 5.23.  Transactions with Directors, Officers  and 
Affiliates.  Except as set forth on Schedule 
5.23, the Company is not a party to any agreement or arrangement 
with any of the directors, officers or stockholders of the Company 
or any Affiliate or family member of any of the foregoing under 
which they:  (i) lease any real or personal property (either to or 
from such Person), (ii) license technology (either to or from such 
Person), (iii) are obligated to purchase any tangible or intangible 
asset from or sell such asset to such Person, (iv) purchase products 
or services from such Person, (v) pay or receive commissions, 
rebates or other payments or (vi) provide or receive any other 
material benefit.  The Company does not employ as an employee or 
engage as a consultant any family member of any of the directors, 
officers or stockholders of the Company.  Except as set forth on 
Schedule 5.23, to the knowledge of the Company, during the past 
three years none of the directors, officers or stockholders of the 
Company, or any family member of any of such Persons, has been a 
director or officer of, or has had any direct or indirect interest 
in, any Person which during such period has been a supplier, 
customer or sales agent of the Company or has competed with or been 
engaged in any business of the kind being conducted by the Company.  
No Affiliate of the Company owns or has any rights in or to any of 
the assets, properties or rights used by the Company in the ordinary 
course of its businesses.

     Section 5.24.  Receivables.  Except as set forth on Schedule 5.24, 
all notes and accounts receivable payable to or for the benefit of 
the Company reflected on the December 31, 1997 Balance Sheet, or 
acquired by the Company after the date thereof and before the 
Closing Date, have been collected or are (or will be) current and 
collectible in amounts not less than the aggregate amount thereof 
(net of reserves established in accordance with prior practice) 
carried (or to be carried) on the books of the Company, and are not 
subject to any counterclaims or set-offs.

     Section 5.25.  Labor Matters.

     (a)   Except as set forth on Schedule 5.25(a):  (i) the 
Company is not a party to any outstanding employment agreements or 
contracts with officers or employees of the Company that are not 
terminable at will, or that provide for the payment of any bonus or 
commission; (ii) the Company is not a party to any agreement, policy 
or practice that requires it to pay termination or severance pay to 
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salaried, non-exempt or hourly employees of the Company (other than 
as required by law); (iii) the Company is not a party to any 
collective bargaining agreement or other labor union contract 
applicable to employees of the Company nor does the Company know of 
any activities and proceedings of any labor union to organize any 
such employees; and (iv) the Company is not a party to any 
consulting agreements.

     (b)   Except as set forth on Schedule 5.25(b):  (i) to the 
knowledge of the Company, the Company is in compliance with all 
applicable laws relating to employment and employment practices, 
wages, hours, and terms and conditions of employment; (ii) to the 
knowledge of the Company, there is no unfair labor practice charge 
or complaint pending before the National Labor Relations Board 
("NLRB") relating to the Company; (iii) to the knowledge of the 
Company, there is no labor strike, material slowdown or material 
work stoppage or lockout pending or threatened against or affecting 
the Company, and the Company has not experienced any strike, 
material slowdown or material work stoppage, lockout or other 
collective labor action by or with respect to employees of the 
Company since 1995; (iv) to the knowledge of the Company, there is 
no representation claim or petition pending before the NLRB or any 
similar foreign agency and no question concerning representation 
exists relating to the employees of the Company; (v) to the 
knowledge of the Company, there are no charges with respect to or 
relating to the Company pending before the Equal Employment 
Opportunity Commission or any state, local or foreign agency 
responsible for the prevention of unlawful employment practices; and 
(vi) the Company has received no notice from any national, state, 
local or foreign agency responsible for the enforcement of labor or 
employment laws of an intention to conduct an investigation of the 
Company and no such investigation is in progress.

     (c)   The Company has heretofore delivered to Parent or its 
representative a list dated as of August 5, 1998 containing the 
name, position, starting employment date, current annual salary and 
bonus and commissions in 1997 of each current employee of the 
Company.



     Section 5.26.  Environmental Matters.  Except as set forth on 
Schedule 5.26:

     (a)   The operations of the Company are, and have been, in 
compliance with all applicable Environmental Laws and permits issued 
thereunder.

     (b)   The Company does not reasonably expect that material 
expenditures are or will be necessary for the Company to maintain 
full compliance with Environmental Laws currently in effect or 
proposed or anticipated to be adopted.

     (c)   The Company has obtained, or has made timely and 
complete application for or for renewal of, all permits required 
under Environmental Laws for the operation of the Company's 
business, except where the failure to do so would not have a 
material adverse effect on the Company or its business as now 
conducted.
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     (d)   No substance identified or regulated pursuant to any 
Environmental Law, including, without limitation, any hazardous 
substance, hazardous waste, toxic substance, pollutant, contaminant 
or petroleum or any fraction thereof ("Hazardous Substance"), has 
come to be located on, at, beneath, or near any real property 
currently or, to the knowledge of the Company, formerly owned, 
operated, leased, or used by the Company, except where the presence 
of such Hazardous Substance would not have a material adverse effect 
on the Company or its business as now conducted.

     (e)   To the knowledge of the Company, no real property 
currently or formerly owned, operated, leased, or used by the 
Company contains or formerly contained any underground or 
aboveground storage tank, surface impoundment, landfill, land 
disposal area, polychlorinated biphenyls, asbestos or urea 
formaldehyde insulation.

     (f)   The Company has not disposed of, transported, or 
arranged for the disposal or transportation of any Hazardous 
Substance at or to any facility at which, to the knowledge of the 
Company, there has been a release or threatened release of a 
Hazardous Substance.

     (g)   The Company has not received notice of, nor is there 
pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened against the 
Company, any claim, investigation, order, decree or lawsuit pursuant 
to any Environmental Law arising out of the operation of the 
Company's business ("Environmental Claim").

     (h)   To the knowledge of the Company, no other party with 
whom the Company has contracted for environmental matters is or has 
been the subject of any claim, action or proceeding arising out of 
the violation or alleged violation of any Environmental Law or the 
disposal, arrangement for the disposal, release or threatened 
release of any Hazardous Substance generated by the Company.

     (i)   The Company has not, by agreement or otherwise, 
assumed any liability of or duty to indemnify any other party for 
any claim, damage or loss arising out of the use, treatment, storage 
or disposal of any Hazardous Substance.

     (j)   To the knowledge of the Company, no Hazardous 
Substance has migrated from any real property currently or formerly 
owned, operated, leased or used by the Company to any other real 
property, nor, to the knowledge of the Company, has any Hazardous 
Substance migrated from any other real property onto any real 
property owned, operated, leased or used by the Company.

     (k)   In connection with the operation of its businesses, 
the Company has not committed any act or omission which could 
reasonably be expected to give rise to liability under any 
Environmental Law, except for any such act or omission which would 
not have a material adverse effect on the Company or its business as 
now conducted.
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     (l)   There is no condition in existence on, at, beneath or 
near any real property owned, leased or used by the Company which 
could give rise to any claim against, liability of, or loss by, 
Parent pursuant to Environmental Laws, except for conditions which 
would not have a material adverse effect on the Company or its 
business as now conducted.



     (m)   The Company has provided Parent or its 
representatives with copies of all (i) permits held by the Company 
pursuant to Environmental Law, (ii) notices, demands, claims or 
actions against the Company pursuant to Environmental Law, and (iii) 
reports, data or other documentation of which it has knowledge 
related to all investigations, audits or assessments of 
environmental conditions at property owned, leased or used by the 
Company and the Company's compliance with Environmental Law.

     Section 5.27.  Products Liability.

     (a)   Except as set forth on Schedule 5.27, to the knowledge of the 
Company, (i) there is no notice, demand, claim, action, suit, inquiry, 
hearing, proceeding, notice of violation or investigation of a civil, 
criminal or administrative nature before any court or governmental or 
other regulatory or administrative agency, commission or authority, 
domestic or foreign, against or involving any products manufactured, 
produced, distributed or sold by or on behalf of the Company 
(including any parts or components) (collectively, "Products"), or 
class of claims or lawsuits involving the same or similar Product 
which is pending or threatened, resulting from an alleged defect in 
design, manufacture, materials or workmanship of any Product, or any 
alleged failure to warn, or from any breach of implied warranties or 
representations (collectively, "Product Liability Lawsuits"); (ii) 
there has not been any Occurrence (as hereinafter defined); and 
(iii) there has not been, within the past 12 months, nor is there 
under consideration or investigation by the Company, any Product 
rework or retrofit (collectively, "Retrofits") conducted by or on 
behalf of the Company.

     (b)   For purposes of this Section 5.27, the term 
"Occurrence" shall mean any accident, happening or event which takes 
place at any time which is caused or allegedly caused by any alleged 
hazard or alleged defect in manufacture, design, materials or 
workmanship including, without limitation, any alleged failure to 
warn or any breach of express or implied warranties or 
representations with respect to, or any such accident, happening or 
event otherwise involving any Product that can reasonably be 
expected to result in a claim or loss.

     Section 5.28.  Company Action.  The Board of Directors of the Company 
(at a meeting duly called and held) has by the requisite vote of all 
directors present (a) determined that the Merger is advisable and 
fair and in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders, 
(b) approved the Merger in accordance with the provisions of Section 
251 of the DGCL, (c) recommended the approval of this Agreement and 
the Merger by the holders of the Company Common Stock and directed 
that the Merger be submitted for consideration by the Company's 
stockholders at the Company Meeting, (d) taken all necessary steps 
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to render Section 203 of the DGCL inapplicable to the Merger and the 
transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and (e) adopted a 
resolution having the effect of causing the Company not to be 
subject, to the extent permitted by applicable law, to any state 
takeover law that may purport to be applicable to the Merger and the 
transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

     Section 5.29.  MSOP   Prior to the date of this Agreement, the Company 
has terminated the MSOP and has distributed all shares of Company Common 
Stock held in the MSOP Trust accounts to the MSOP Participants entitled 
thereto.  The Company has received from each MSOP Participant a 
release, copies of which have been delivered to Parent, releasing 
the Company and the MSOP Administrative Committee from any liability 
to such MSOP Participant with respect to the MSOP.

     Section 5.30.  Accuracy of Information.  None of the 
representations, warranties or statements of the Company contained 
in this Agreement, or in the exhibits hereto, contains any untrue 
statement of a material fact.

                                 ARTICLE VI.

                  REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PARENT.

     Parent hereby represents and warrants to the Company as 
follows:

     Section 6.1.  Corporate Organization.  Parent is a corporation duly 
organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of 
the State of Delaware, and has all requisite corporate power and 
authority to own its properties and assets and to conduct its 
businesses as now conducted.  Copies of the Certificate of 



Incorporation and By-Laws of the Parent, with all amendments 
thereto, have been furnished to the Company or its representatives, 
and such copies are accurate and complete.  Each Parent Subsidiary 
is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the 
laws of its respective jurisdiction of incorporation except where 
the failure to be so organized, existing and in good standing would 
not have a material adverse effect on the business of Parent and its 
Subsidiaries considered as one enterprise.

     Section 6.2.  Qualification to Do Business.  Parent is duly 
qualified to do business as a foreign corporation and is in good 
standing in every jurisdiction in which the character of the 
properties owned or leased by it or the nature of the business 
conducted by it makes such qualification necessary.  Each Parent 
Subsidiary is duly qualified to do business as a foreign corporation 
and is in good standing in every jurisdiction in which the character 
of the properties owned or leased by it or the nature of the 
business conducted by it makes such qualification necessary except 
where the failure to be so qualified and in good standing would not 
have a material adverse effect on the business of Parent and its 
Subsidiaries considered as one enterprise.

     Section 6.3.  Authorization and Validity of Agreement.  Parent has 
all requisite corporate power and authority to enter 

                                      -35-
into this Agreement and to carry out its obligations hereunder.  The 
execution and delivery by Parent of this Agreement and the 
performance of Parent's obligations hereunder have been duly 
authorized by all necessary corporate action by the Board of 
Directors of Parent, and no other corporate proceedings on the part 
of Parent are necessary to authorize such execution, delivery and 
performance.  This Agreement has been duly executed by Parent and 
constitutes Parent's valid and binding obligation, enforceable 
against Parent in accordance with its terms.

     Section 6.4.  No Conflict or Violation.  The execution, delivery 
and performance by Parent of this Agreement does not and will not 
(i) violate or conflict with any provision of the Certificate of 
Incorporation or By-Laws of Parent, (ii) violate any provision of 
law, or any order, judgment or decree of any court or other 
governmental or regulatory authority, (iii) violate or result in a 
breach of or constitute (with due notice or lapse of time or both) a 
default under any contract, lease, loan agreement, mortgage, 
security agreement, trust indenture or other agreement or instrument 
to which Parent is a party or by which it is bound or to which any 
of its properties or assets is subject, (iv) result in the creation 
or imposition of any Lien upon any of the assets, properties or 
rights of Parent, or (v) result in the cancellation, modification, 
revocation or suspension of any license or permit material to the 
business of the Parent, other than, in case of (iii), (iv) and (v) 
above, any such conflicts, violations, defaults, rights or Liens 
that, individually or in the aggregate, would not have a material 
adverse effect on the business of Parent and its Subsidiaries 
considered as one enterprise, materially impair the ability of 
Parent to perform its obligations thereunder or prevent the 
consummation of any of the transactions contemplated hereby.

     Section 6.5.  Consents and Approvals.  The execution, delivery and 
performance of this Agreement by Parent does not require the consent 
or approval of, or filing with, any Governmental Entity or any other 
Person, except for (i) the filing of a pre-merger notification 
report under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvement Act of 
1976, as amended (the "HSR Act") and (ii) such consents, approvals 
and filings, of which the failure to obtain or make would not, 
individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on 
the business of Parent and its Subsidiaries considered as one 
enterprise or have a material adverse effect on the ability of 
Parent to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby.

     Section 6.6.  Confirmation of Representations and 
Warranties of Merger Sub.  Parent represents and warrants that each of the 
representations and warranties of Merger Sub contained in Article VII hereof 
are true and correct in all material respects.

                                 ARTICLE VII.

                REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF MERGER SUB.

     Merger Sub hereby represents and warrants to the Company 
as follows:
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     Section 7.1.  Corporate Organization.  Merger Sub is a corporation 
duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws 
of the State of Delaware, and has all requisite corporate power and 
authority to own its properties and assets and to conduct its 
businesses as now conducted.  Copies of the Certificate of 
Incorporation and By-Laws of Merger Sub, with all amendments 
thereto, have been furnished to the Company or its representatives, 
and such copies are accurate and complete.

     Section 7.2.  Qualification to Do Business.  Merger Sub is 
duly qualified to do business as a foreign corporation and is in 
good standing in every jurisdiction in which the character of the 
properties owned or leased by it or the nature of the business 
conducted by it makes such qualification necessary.

     Section 7.3.  Authorization and Validity of Agreement.  Merger Sub has 
all requisite corporate power and authority to enter into this Agreement 
and to carry out its obligations hereunder.  The execution and delivery by 
Merger Sub of this Agreement and the performance by Major Sub of its 
obligations hereunder have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate 
action by the Board of Directors of Merger Sub, and no other 
corporate proceedings on the part of Merger Sub are necessary to 
authorize such execution, delivery and performance.  This Agreement 
has been duly executed by Merger Sub and constitutes Merger Sub's 
valid and binding obligation, enforceable against Merger Sub in 
accordance with its terms.

     Section 7.4.  No Conflict or Violation.  The execution, delivery 
and performance by Merger Sub of this Agreement does not and will 
not violate or conflict with any provision of the Certificate of 
Incorporation or By-Laws of Merger Sub and does not and will not 
violate any provision of law, or any order, judgment or decree of 
any court or other governmental or regulatory authority, nor violate 
nor will result in a breach of or constitute (with due notice or 
lapse of time or both) a default under any contract, lease, loan 
agreement, mortgage, security agreement, trust indenture or other 
agreement or instrument to which Merger Sub is a party or by which 
it is bound or to which any of its properties or assets is subject.

     Section 7.5.  Consents and Approvals.  The execution, delivery and 
performance of this Agreement by Merger Sub does not require the 
consent or approval of, or filing with, any Governmental Entity or 
any other Person, except for (i) the filing of a pre-merger 
notification report under the HSR Act and (ii) such consents, 
approvals and filings, of which the failure to obtain or make would 
not, individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse 
effect on the ability of Merger Sub to consummate the transactions 
contemplated hereby.

     Section 7.6.  Capitalization of Merger Sub.  The authorized 
stock of Merger Sub consists of 100 shares of common stock, par 
value $.01 per share, all of which are validly issued and 
outstanding.  All of the issued and outstanding stock of Merger Sub 
is, and at the Effective Date will be, owned by Parent, and there 
are (i) no other shares of stock or voting securities of Merger Sub, 
(ii) no securities of Merger Sub convertible into or exchangeable 
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for shares of stock or voting securities of Merger Sub and (iii) no 
options or other rights to acquire from Merger Sub, and no 
obligations of Merger Sub to issue or deliver, any stock, voting 
securities or securities convertible into or exchangeable for stock 
or voting securities of Merger Sub.  Merger Sub has not conducted 
any business prior to August 7, 1998 and has no, and prior to the 
Effective Date will have no, assets, liabilities or obligations of 
any nature other than those incident to its formation and pursuant 
to this Agreement and the Merger and the other transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement.

                                ARTICLE VIII.

                       REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
                      OF THE COMPANY REGARDING THE ESOP

     The Company represents and warrants to Parent and Merger 
Sub as follows:

     Section 8.1.  ESOP Trustee.  The ESOP Trustee has been properly 
appointed as trustee of the ESOP Trust.  The Company has delivered 
to the ESOP Trustee complete, current and accurate copies of the 
ESOP plan document and the ESOP Trust Agreement.  The ESOP Trustee 
is independent of the Company.



     Section 8.2.  Legal Counsel; Independent Financial 
Advisor.  The ESOP Trustee, at the expense of the 
Company, has retained independent legal counsel knowledgeable in 
matters regarding ERISA and Code fiduciary responsibilities and has 
retained an independent financial advisor to advise the ESOP Trustee 
regarding the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

     Section 8.3.  Opinion of Financial Advisor.  The ESOP has 
received the final opinion of Parker/Hunter Incorporated, financial 
advisor to the ESOP Trustee, to the effect that (i) the 
consideration to be received by the ESOP Trust in the transaction 
contemplated by the Original Merger Agreement is not less than 
"adequate consideration," as defined in Section 3(18)(B) of ERISA 
and Department of Labor Proposed Regulation Section 2510.3-18(b) and 
(ii) the transaction contemplated by the Original Merger Agreement 
is fair to the ESOP from a financial point of view.

     Section 8.4.  ESOP Loans.  The ESOP Trust has no outstanding 
indebtedness other than the ESOP Loans and the ESOP Advance.

                                 ARTICLE IX.

                          COVENANTS OF THE COMPANY.

     The Company hereby covenants as follows:

     Section 9.1.  Conduct of Business Before the Closing Date.

     (a)  Without the prior written consent of Parent, between 
the date hereof and the Closing Date, the Company shall not, except 
as required or expressly contemplated by this Agreement or as 
required by applicable laws or regulations or orders of a 
Governmental Entity:
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           (i)  make any material change in the conduct of the 
   businesses of the Company or enter into any transaction other 
   than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past 
   practices;

           (ii)  make any change in its Certificate of 
   Incorporation or By-Laws; issue any additional shares of 
   capital stock or equity securities or grant any option, warrant 
   or right to acquire any capital stock or equity securities or 
   issue any security convertible into or exchangeable for capital 
   stock or alter in any way its outstanding securities or make 
   any change in outstanding shares of capital stock or other 
   ownership interests or the capitalization of the Company, 
   whether by reason of a reclassification, recapitalization, 
   stock split or combination, exchange or readjustment of shares, 
   stock dividend or otherwise;

           (iii)  make any sale, assignment, transfer, 
   abandonment or other conveyance of the assets, properties or 
   rights of the Company or any part thereof, except transactions 
   pursuant to existing Contracts set forth in the Schedules 
   hereto and dispositions of inventory or of worn-out or obsolete 
   equipment for fair or reasonable value in the ordinary course 
   of business consistent with past practice;

           (iv)  subject any of the assets, properties or rights 
   of the Company, or any part thereof, to any Lien or suffer such 
   to exist other than such Liens as may arise in the ordinary 
   course of business consistent with past practice by operation 
   of law and that will not, individually or in the aggregate, 
   have a material adverse effect on the Company;

           (v)  redeem, retire, purchase or otherwise acquire, 
   directly or indirectly, any shares of the capital stock of the 
   Company or declare, set aside or pay any dividends or other 
   distribution in respect of such shares;

           (vi)  acquire any assets, raw materials or 
   properties, or enter into any other transaction, other than in 
   the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;

           (vii)  enter into any new (or amend any existing) 
   employee benefit plan, program or arrangement or any new (or 
   amend any existing) employment, severance or consulting 
   agreement, grant any general increase in the compensation of 
   officers or employees (including any such increase pursuant to 
   any bonus, pension, profit-sharing or other plan or commitment) 
   or grant any increase in the compensation payable or to become 
   payable to any employee, except in accordance with pre-existing 
   contractual provisions or consistent with past practice; 
   provided that, other than with respect to ESOP and MSOP 



   contributions approved at the April 7, 1998 meeting of the 
   Company's Board of Directors (in the amount of $1,593,000 with 
   respect to the ESOP and $50,000 with respect to the MSOP), the 
   immediately preceding exception shall not apply to the ESOP, 
   the ESOP Trust Agreement, the MSOP or the MSOP Trust Agreement; 
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   and further provided that this Section 9.1(a)(vii) shall not 
   apply to any payment subject to the provisions of Section 14.3.

           (viii)  make or commit to make any capital 
   expenditure in excess of $100,000 except with respect to prior 

   commitments and except in the ordinary course of business 
   consistent with past practice;

           (ix)  pay, lend or advance any amount to, or sell, 
   transfer or lease any properties or assets to, or enter into 
   any agreement or arrangement with, any of its Affiliates;

           (x)  fail to keep in full force and effect insurance 
   comparable in amount and scope to coverage currently 
   maintained;

           (xi)  take any other action that would cause any of 
   the representations and warranties made by the Company in this 
   Agreement not to remain true and correct;

           (xii)  make any change in any method of accounting or 
   accounting principle, method, estimate or practice except for 
   any such change required by reason of a concurrent change in 
   GAAP, or write down the value of any inventory or write off as 
   uncollectible any accounts receivable except in the ordinary 
   course of business consistent with past practice;

           (xiii)  make, change or revoke any election or method 
   of accounting with respect to Taxes affecting or relating to 
   the Company;

           (xiv)  enter into any closing or other agreement or 
   settlement with respect to Taxes affecting or relating to the 
   Company;

           (xv)  settle, release or forgive any claim or 
   litigation or waive any right thereto;

           (xvi)  except in the ordinary course of business 
   consistent with past practice and except for any Contract 
   subject to the provisions of Section 14.3, make, enter into, 
   modify, amend in any material respect or terminate any 
   Contract, bid or expenditure, where such Contract, bid or 
   expenditure is for (A) a Contract entailing payments in excess 
   of $50,000 or (B) a Contract having a term in excess of six 
   months;

           (xvii)  cause or allow the ESOP Trust to incur any 
   indebtedness other than the ESOP Loans and the ESOP Advance, 
   including for this purpose causing or allowing the ESOP Trust 
   to draw any additional funds pursuant to the ESOP Loan 
   Agreement; or

           (xviii)  commit to do any of the foregoing.

     (b)   From and after the date hereof and until the Closing 
Date, the Company shall:
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           (i)  continue to maintain, in all material respects, 
   the assets, properties, rights and operations of the Company in 
   accordance with present practice in a condition suitable for 
   their current use;

           (ii)  file, when due or required, all Tax Returns and 
   other reports required to be filed and pay when due all Taxes 
   lawfully levied or assessed against it, unless the validity 
   thereof is contested in good faith and by appropriate 
   proceedings diligently conducted;

           (iii)  continue to conduct the businesses of the 
   Company in the ordinary course consistent with past practice;

           (iv)  keep its books of account, files and records in 
   the ordinary course and in accordance with existing practice; 
   and



           (v)  use commercially reasonable efforts to preserve 
   intact the operations, organization and reputation of the 
   Company, keep available the services of the Company's present 
   officers and key employees and preserve the goodwill and 
   business relationships of the suppliers and customers of the 
   Company.

     Section 9.2.  Consents and Approvals.  The Company shall (a) use 
commercially reasonable efforts to obtain all necessary consents, 
waivers, authorizations and approvals of all Governmental Entities, 
and of all other Persons, required in connection with the execution, 
delivery and performance by the Company of this Agreement, and (b) 
diligently assist and cooperate with Parent and Merger Sub in 
preparing and filing all documents required to be submitted by 
Parent and Merger Sub to any Governmental Entities, in connection 
with such transactions and in obtaining any governmental consents, 
waivers, authorizations or approvals which may be required to be 
obtained by Parent and Merger Sub in connection with such 
transactions (which assistance and cooperation shall include, 
without limitation, timely furnishing to Parent and Merger Sub all 
information concerning the Company that counsel to Parent reasonably 
determines is required to be included in such documents or could 
reasonably be expected to be helpful in obtaining any such required 
consent, waiver, authorization or approval).

     Section 9.3.  Negotiations.  From and after the date hereof and 
until the earlier to occur of the Closing Date or the termination of 
this Agreement pursuant to Article XV hereof, the Company shall not, 
and shall not permit or cause any of the officers and directors of 
the Company, or any Persons acting on behalf of the Company to, 
directly or indirectly, encourage, solicit, engage in discussions or 
negotiations with, or provide any information to, any Person or 
group (other than Parent or its representatives) concerning any 
merger, sale of substantial assets, purchase or sale of shares of 
capital stock or similar transaction involving the Company or any 
other transaction inconsistent with the transactions contemplated 
hereby.  The Company shall promptly communicate to Parent any 
inquiries or communications concerning any such transaction which 
the Company may receive or of which the Company may become aware.

                                      -41-
     Section 9.4.  Best Efforts.  Upon the terms and subject to the 
conditions of this Agreement, the Company shall use its best efforts 
to take, or cause to be taken, all action, and to do, or cause to be 
done, all things necessary, proper or advisable consistent with 
applicable law to consummate and make effective in the most 
expeditious manner reasonably practicable the transactions 
contemplated hereby.

     Section 9.5.  Notice of Breach.  Through the Closing Date, the Company 
shall promptly give written notice with particularity upon having 
knowledge of any matter that may constitute a breach of any 
representation, warranty, agreement or covenant contained in this 
Agreement.

     Section 9.6.  ESOP Voting Procedures.  The Company shall ensure 
that the procedures used by the ESOP Trustee to solicit voting 
instructions from ESOP Participants in connection with approving the 
Merger comply with the requirements of ERISA and the guidelines 
established by the Department of Labor for participant pass-through 
votes, including but not limited to the requirements that (i) the 
voting instructions of individual ESOP Participants not be disclosed 
to the Company or any officer, director or employee thereof, (ii) 
ESOP Participants receive full and accurate information regarding 
the Merger, including a copy of the Proxy Statement, (iii) any 
misinformation regarding the Merger which to the knowledge of the 
Company is disseminated to the ESOP Participants is promptly 
corrected and (iv) the ESOP Participants not be subject to undue 
influence.

     Section 9.7.  Small Business Corporation.  The Company shall take 
no action which could cause it to cease to qualify as a "small 
business corporation" within the meaning of Section 1361(b) of the 
Code, but without regard to paragraph (1)(C) thereof.

     Section 9.8.  Directors.  From and after the date hereof, Parent 
shall be entitled to designate such number of directors, rounded up to 
the next whole number, on the Board of Directors of the Company (the "Board 
of Directors") as will give Parent representation on the Board of 
Directors equal to at least that number of directors which equals 
the product of the total number of directors on the Board of 
Directors (giving effect to the directors appointed or elected 
pursuant to this sentence and including current directors serving as 
officers of the Company) multiplied by the percentage that the 



aggregate number of shares of Company Common Stock beneficially 
owned by Parent or any Affiliate of Parent bears to the number of 
shares of Company Common Stock outstanding.  At such time, the 
Company will also cause each committee of the Board of Directors to 
include persons designated by Parent constituting the same 
percentage of each such committee or board as Parent's designees are 
of the Board of Directors.  The Company shall, upon request by 
Parent, promptly increase the size of the Board of Directors or 
exercise its best efforts to secure the resignations of such number 
of directors as is necessary to enable Parent's designees to be 
elected to the Board of Directors in accordance with the terms of 
this Section 9.8 and shall cause Parent's designees to be so 
elected; provided, however, that, in the event that Parent's 
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designees are appointed or elected to the Board of Directors, until 
the Effective Date the Board of Directors shall have at least one 
director who is a director of the Company on the date hereof and who 
is neither an officer of the Company nor a designee, stockholder or 
Affiliate of Parent (one or more of such directors, the "Independent 
Directors"); provided, further, that an Independent Director may be 
removed from the Board of Directors only by the affirmative vote of 
a majority of the Independent Directors; and provided, further, that 
if no Independent Directors remain, the other directors shall 
designate one Person to fill one of the vacancies who shall not be 
either an officer of the Company or a designee, stockholder or 
Affiliate of Parent, and such Person shall be deemed to be an 
Independent Director for purposes of this Agreement.  
Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, prior to 
the Effective Date, the affirmative vote of a majority of the 
Independent Directors shall be required to (i) amend or terminate 
this Agreement on behalf of the Company, (ii) exercise or waive any 
of the Company's rights or remedies hereunder, (iii) extend the time 
for performance of Parent's obligations hereunder or (iv) take any 
other action by the Company in connection with this Agreement 
required to be taken by the Board of Directors.

                                 ARTICLE X.

                   COVENANTS OF THE PARENT AND MERGER SUB.

     Section 10.1.  Actions Before Effective Date.  Neither Parent 
nor Merger Sub shall take any action which shall cause it to be in 
breach of any of its representations, warranties, covenants or 
agreements contained in this Agreement.  Each of Parent and Merger 
Sub shall use commercially reasonable efforts to perform and satisfy 
all conditions to Closing to be performed or satisfied by it under 
this Agreement as soon as possible, but in no event later than the 
Closing Date.

     Section 10.2.  Consents and Approvals.  Each of Parent and Merger 
Sub shall use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain all consents 
and approvals of third parties required to be obtained by it to 
effect the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.  
Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, in 
connection with any filing or submission or other action required to 
be made or taken by any party to this Agreement to effect the Merger 
and the transactions contemplated hereby, the Company shall not 
without the prior written consent of Parent commit to any 
divestiture transaction and Parent shall not be required to divest 
or hold separate or otherwise take or commence to take any action 
that, in the reasonable discretion of Parent, limits in any material 
respect its freedom of action with respect to, or its ability to 
retain, the Company or any material portion of the assets of the 
Company.
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     Section 10.3.  Repayment of ESOP Advance; Termination of 
the ESOP.

     (a)   As soon as practicable following 
the Closing, the ESOP Trust shall repay to the Surviving Corporation 
from the amount received by the ESOP Trust pursuant to Section 
4.1(b) the $950,000 advance made by the Company to the ESOP Trust in 
July 1998 (the "ESOP Advance").

     (b)   No later than sixty days following the Closing, the 



Surviving Corporation shall terminate the ESOP.  As soon as 
practicable following such termination, the Surviving Corporation 
shall cause the ESOP Trust to prepay the ESOP Loans in full from the 
amount received by the ESOP Trust pursuant to Section 4.1(b), 
including any accrued interest, prepayment penalties and other fees 
and payments required to be paid to the ESOP Lender in connection 
therewith.  The Surviving Corporation shall cause any assets 
remaining in the Loan Suspense Account after such prepayment to be 
allocated to the ESOP accounts of those Persons who were ESOP 
Participants on the Closing Date, based on the relative ESOP account 
balances of such ESOP Participants as of the Closing Date.  The 
Surviving Corporation's obligation to cause those actions described 
in this Section 10.3 is subject to (i) the requirements of ERISA and 
the Code, (ii) obtaining any necessary consents from the ESOP Lender 
and (iii) the agreement of the ESOP Trustee, to the extent 
necessary.  If one or more of such actions cannot occur because of 
the limitations described in the preceding sentence, the Surviving 
Corporation shall cause to be taken such actions which may be taken 
which as closely as possible accomplish the purpose and intent of 
this Section 10.3.  Promptly following the termination of the ESOP, 
the Surviving Corporation shall submit the ESOP to the appropriate 
District Director of the Internal Revenue Service, seeking a 
determination letter to the effect that the termination of the ESOP 
does not adversely effect its tax qualification and tax exemption 
under Sections 401(a) and 501(a) of the Code, respectively.  Within 
sixty days following its receipt of such determination letter, the 
Surviving Corporation shall provide distribution election forms to 
the ESOP Participants, and promptly thereafter distribute the assets 
of the ESOP, or take other appropriate actions, in accordance with 
such elections.

     Section 10.4.  Benefits to Company Employees.  Parent shall 
or shall cause the Surviving Corporation to take the following 
action with respect to each Company employee (other than any Person 
listed on Schedule 14.3) employed in Greensboro, North Carolina or 
as President of the Line Set Division or as President of the Mill 
Division on the Closing Date:  offer a comparable position at their 
current employment location at a comparable base rate of pay.  For 
any employee who accepts such employment and who is subsequently 
terminated, the Surviving Corporation agrees to pay to such employee 
severance benefits at least equal to the severance benefits that the 
employee would have received under the existing severance policy of 
the Company attached hereto as Schedule 10.4.  Nothing in this 
Section 10.4 shall be construed as creating any employment contract 
between any employee of the Company and Parent or the Surviving 
Corporation or to diminish or restrict in any way Parent's or the 
Surviving Corporation's right to terminate without the payment of 
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severance benefits any employee for poor job performance, unexcused 
absences or other good cause.  Parent will recognize the time of 
service of the Company's employees with respect to the granting of 
and eligibility for Parent benefits.

     Section 10.5.  Voting of Company Common Stock.  Parent and 
Merger Sub agree as follows:

     (a)   Prior to the Effective Date, and except as 
contemplated hereby or except with the prior written consent of the 
Company, Merger Sub will not (i) sell, transfer, pledge, encumber, 
assign or otherwise dispose of, enforce or permit the execution of 
the provisions of any redemption agreement with the Company or enter 
into any contract, option or other arrangement or understanding with 
respect to or consent to the offer for sale, transfer, pledge, 
encumbrance, assignment or other disposition of, any of the Merger 
Sub-Owned Shares, or any shares of Company Common Stock acquired by 
Merger Sub after the date hereof, or any interest in any of the 
foregoing, (ii) grant any proxies or powers of attorney, deposit of 
shares into a voting trust or enter into a voting agreement with 
respect to any shares of Company Common Stock or (iii) consent or 
otherwise agree to any amendment, waiver or other modification of 
the Certificate of Incorporation or By-Laws of the Company;

     (b)   Without the prior written consent of the Company, 
Merger Sub will not take any action to impede, interfere with, delay 
or postpone the Company Meeting;

     (c)   At the Company Meeting or at any other meeting of the 
holders of shares of Company Common Stock prior to the Effective 
Date, however called, or in connection with any solicitation of 
written consents of the holders of shares of Company Common Stock, 
Merger Sub shall vote (or cause to be voted) or act by written 
consent with respect to the Merger Sub-Owned Shares (i) in favor of 
adoption and approval of this Agreement and the Merger and the 
approval of the terms hereof and each of the other actions 



contemplated by this Agreement; (ii) against any action or agreement 
that would result in a breach of any covenant, representation or 
warranty or any other obligation or agreement of Parent, Merger Sub 
or the Company contained in this Agreement; and (iii) against any 
action, agreement or transaction (other than this Agreement or the 
transactions contemplated hereby) that is intended, or could 
reasonably be expected, to impede, interfere or be inconsistent 
with, delay, postpone, discourage or materially adversely affect the 
Merger or this Agreement.  Merger Sub shall not enter into any 
agreement or understanding with any person or entity to vote or give 
instructions in any manner inconsistent with clauses (i), (ii) or 
(iii) of the preceding sentence.

                                 ARTICLE XI.

                     ADDITIONAL COVENANTS OF THE PARTIES.

     Section 11.1.  Assistance in Consummation of the Merger.  Each of 
Parent, Merger Sub and the Company shall provide all 
reasonable assistance to, and shall cooperate with, each other to 
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bring about the consummation of the Merger as soon as possible in 
accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement.  Parent 
shall cause Merger Sub to perform all of its obligations in 
connection with this Agreement.  Parent, as the sole stockholder of 
Merger Sub, shall approve, and hereby approves, this Agreement and 
the Merger.

     Section 11.2.  Proxy Statement.  As promptly as practicable after the 
execution of this Agreement, the Company shall prepare and mail to 
holders of Company Common Stock a proxy statement (the "Proxy 
Statement") in connection with the meeting of the holders of Company 
Common Stock to consider the adoption of this Agreement pursuant to 
Section 251 of the DGCL (the "Company Meeting").  The Company and 
Parent each agrees, as to itself and, in the case of Parent, its 
Subsidiaries, that to their respective knowledge, none of the 
information supplied or to be supplied by it or, in the case of 
Parent, its Subsidiaries for inclusion in the Proxy Statement will, 
at the date of mailing to stockholders and at the time of the 
Company Meeting, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or 
omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or 
necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the 
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.

     Section 11.3.  Company Meeting.  As promptly as practicable after 
mailing of the Proxy Statement, the Company will take, in accordance with 
its Certificate of Incorporation and By-Laws, all action necessary to 
convene the Company Meeting to consider and vote upon the approval 
of this Agreement, the Merger and the transactions contemplated 
hereby and the Company's board of directors will recommend such 
approval by the holders of Company Common Stock, will not withdraw 
or modify such recommendation and shall use all commercially 
reasonably efforts to solicit such approval.

     Section 11.4.  Transfer Taxes.  Parent and the Company shall cooperate 
in the preparation, execution and filing of all returns, applications or 
other documents regarding any real property transfer, stamp, 
recording, documentary or other taxes (including, without 
limitation, any New York State Real Estate Transfer Tax) and any 
other fees and similar taxes which become payable in connection with 
the Merger.

     Section 11.5.  Indemnification; Directors' and Officers' 
Insurance.

     (a)   From and after the Effective Date, Parent and the Surviving 
Corporation shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless each Person who is now, 
or has been at any time prior to the date hereof, an officer or director of 
the Company or an employee or director of the Company who acts as a 
fiduciary under the MSOP, ESOP or any other qualified benefit plan 
of the Company (the "Indemnified Parties") against all losses, 
claims, damages, costs, expenses (including reasonable attorneys' 
fees), liabilities, fines, penalties or judgments or amounts that 
are paid in settlement with the approval of the indemnifying party 
(which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld) of or in 
connection with any threatened or actual claim, action, suit, 
proceeding or investigation based in whole or in part on or arising 
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in whole or in part out of the fact that such person is or was a 
director, officer or such employee of the Company whether pertaining 
to any matter of fact existing or occurring at or prior to the 



Effective Date ("Indemnified Liabilities"), including all 
Indemnified Liabilities based in whole or in part on, or arising in 
whole or in part out of, or pertaining to this Agreement or the 
transactions contemplated hereby, in each case to the full extent 
permitted under applicable law (and Parent and the Surviving 
Corporation will pay expenses in advance of the final disposition of 
any such action or proceeding to each Indemnified Party to the full 
extent permitted by law).  Without limiting the foregoing, in the 
event any such claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation is 
brought against any Indemnified Parties (whether arising before or 
after the Effective Date), (i) the Indemnified Parties may retain 
counsel (which shall be reasonably acceptable to Parent) and Parent 
and the Surviving Corporation shall pay all reasonable fees and 
expenses of such counsel for the Indemnified Parties promptly as 
statements therefor are received; and (ii) Parent and the Surviving 
Corporation will use all reasonable efforts to assist in the 
vigorous defense of any such matter, provided that neither Parent 
nor the Surviving Corporation shall be liable for any settlement 
effected without its written consent, which consent, however, shall 
not be unreasonably withheld.  Any Indemnified Party wishing to 
claim indemnification under this Section 11.5, upon learning of any 
such claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation, shall notify 
Parent and the Surviving Corporation, but the failure so to notify 
shall not relieve a party from any liability that it may have under 
this Section 11.5, except to the extent such failure materially 
prejudices such party.  The Indemnified Parties as a group my retain 
only one law firm to represent them with respect to each such matter 
in each applicable jurisdiction unless there is, under applicable 
standards of professional conduct, a conflict on any significant 
issue between the positions of any two or more Indemnified Parties.  
Parent and Merger Sub agree that all rights to indemnification, 
including provisions relating to advances of expenses incurred in 
defense of any action or suit, existing in favor of the Indemnified 
Parties (including in the Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws of 
the Company) with respect to matters occurring through the Effective 
Date, shall survive the Merger and shall continue in full force and 
effect for a period of six years from the Effective Date; provided, 
however, that all rights to indemnification in respect of any 
Indemnified Liabilities asserted or made within such period shall 
continue until the disposition of such Indemnified Liabilities.  
Parent shall cause the provisions providing for the exculpation of 
directors and officers liability and indemnification contained in 
the Certificate of Incorporation of the Surviving Corporation to be 
substantively the same as the provisions providing for the 
exculpation of directors and officers liabilities and 
indemnification contained in the Certificate of Incorporation of the 
Company in effect immediately prior to the Effective Date.  The 
rights of each Indemnified Party hereunder shall be in addition to 
any other rights such Indemnified Party may have under the 
Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws of the Company, under the 
DGCL or otherwise.  The provisions of this Section 11.5 shall 
survive the consummation of the Merger and expressly are intended to 
benefit each of the Indemnified Parties.
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     (b)   For a period of six years after the Effective Date, 
Parent shall cause to be maintained in effect the current policies 
of directors' and officers' liability insurance maintained by the 
Company (provided that Parent my substitute therefor policies of at 
least the same coverage and amounts containing terms and conditions 
that are no less advantageous in any material respect to the 
Indemnified Parties) with respect to matters arising before the 
Effective Date; provided, however, that Parent shall not be required 
to pay an annual premium for such insurance in excess of (i) 250% of 
the last annual premium paid by the Company prior to the date 
hereof, for each of the first three annual premiums, and (ii) 200% 
of the last annual premium paid by the Company prior to the date 
hereof, thereafter; provided, further, that in the event such 
maximum amounts are applicable, Parent shall purchase as much 
coverage as possible for such amount.

     (c)   Parent shall reimburse an Indemnified Party for 
reasonable legal expenses actually incurred by such Indemnified 
Party in enforcing the provisions of this Section 11.5 if such 
Indemnified Party is ultimately determined to be the prevailing 
party in a final adjudication by a court from which there is no 
further right of appeal (or any such right of appeal has expired).

     Section 11.6.  Access to Properties and Records; 
Confidentiality.

     (a)   The Company shall afford to Parent, and to the accountants, 
counsel and representatives of Parent, full access during normal business 
hours through the period prior to the Closing Date (or the earlier 



termination of this Agreement pursuant to Article XV) to all 
properties, books, Contracts, commitments and files and records 
(including, but not limited to, Tax Returns and correspondence with 
accountants) of the Company and, during such period, shall furnish 
promptly to Parent all other information concerning the Company and 
its properties and personnel as Parent may reasonably request, 
provided that no investigation or receipt of information pursuant to 
this Section 11.6 shall qualify any representation or warranty of 
the Company or the conditions or the obligations of Parent and 
Merger Sub.  The Company also shall afford to Parent full access to 
all assets and operations of the Company throughout the period prior 
to the Closing Date.

     (b)   Parent shall cause its officers, employees and other 
representatives to hold in confidence all confidential information 
obtained under (a) above, other than any information (i) that is or 
becomes publicly known to Parent or such Persons otherwise than in 
violation of this Agreement, (ii) known to the party to whom 
disclosed prior to such disclosure, or disclosed to such party by a 
third party not under an obligation of confidentiality to the Party 
to this Agreement disclosing the same, (iii) developed by the party 
to whom disclosed independently of the information so disclosed, or 
(iv) required to be disclosed by law.  Parent shall not (and shall 
insure that such other Persons do not), without the prior written 
consent of the Company use such information other than in connection 
with this Agreement and the Merger or disclose such information to 
others.  To the extent that any such confidential information 
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relates to the customers of the Company, such information shall not 
be disclosed, directly or indirectly, to any employee of Parent who 
is directly, or indirectly, involved in selling to or setting prices 
for the sale to customers in competing transactions.

     (c)   If this Agreement is terminated, Parent shall, and 
each shall cause its representatives to, promptly return or cause to 
be destroyed all copies of confidential information furnished to it 
and its representatives and all notes and summaries of the 
confidential information.

                                 ARTICLE XII.

                              MUTUAL CONDITIONS

     The respective obligation of each Party to effect the 
Merger is subject to the satisfaction or waiver at or prior to the 
Closing Date of each of the following conditions:

     Section 12.1.  Stockholder Approval.  The Merger and the 
transactions contemplated hereby shall have been duly approved by 
holders of the Company Common Stock, in accordance with applicable 
law and the Company's Certificate of Incorporation and By-Laws, 
constituting a majority of the outstanding shares of Company Common 
Stock.

     Section 12.2.  HSR Act.  Any applicable waiting period under the HSR 
Act shall have expired or been terminated.

                                ARTICLE XIII.

             CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO PERFORMANCE BY THE COMPANY.

     The obligations of the Company to consummate the 
transactions contemplated by this Agreement are subject to the 
fulfillment, at or before the Closing Date, of the following 
conditions, any one or more of which may be waived by the Company in 
its sole discretion:

     Section 13.1.  Representations and Warranties of Parent and Merger 
Sub.  All representations and warranties made by Parent and Merger Sub in 
this Agreement shall have been true and correct when made, and the Company 
shall have received a certificate to that effect dated the Closing Date and 
signed by any Vice President of Parent and Merger Sub.

     Section 13.2.  Performance of the Obligations of Parent 
and Merger Sub.  Parent and Merger Sub shall have performed all obligations 
required under this Agreement to be performed by Parent and Merger Sub on or 
before the Closing Date, and the Company shall have received a certificate to 
that effect dated the Closing Date and signed by any Vice President of Parent 
and Merger Sub.

     Section 13.3.  No Violation of Orders.  No preliminary or permanent 
injunction or other order issued by any court or other governmental 
or regulatory authority, domestic or foreign, nor any statute, rule, 



regulation, decree or executive order promulgated or enacted by any 
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Governmental Entity that declares this Agreement invalid or 
unenforceable in any respect or which prevents the consummation of 
the transactions contemplated hereby shall be in effect; and no 
action or proceeding before any court or regulatory authority, 
domestic or foreign, shall have been instituted or threatened by any 
Governmental Entity, which seeks to prevent or delay the 
consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or 
which challenges the validity or enforceability of this Agreement, 
and which in any such case has a reasonable likelihood of success in 
the opinion of counsel to the Company.

     Section 13.4.  Opinion of Counsel.  The Company shall have received 
an opinion, dated as of the Closing Date, from Parent's general 
counsel, covering the matters set forth on Exhibit A, subject to 
customary qualifications, limitations and qualifications for 
opinions given in transactions of the kind contemplated hereby.

     Section 13.5.  Legal Matters.  All certificates, instruments, opinions 
and other documents required to be executed or delivered by or on behalf 
of Parent and Merger Sub under the provisions of this Agreement, and 
all other actions and proceedings required to be taken by or on 
behalf of Parent and Merger Sub in furtherance of the transactions 
contemplated hereby, shall be reasonably satisfactory in form and 
substance to counsel to Company.

                                ARTICLE XIV.

        CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO PERFORMANCE BY PARENT AND MERGER SUB.

     The obligations of Parent and Merger Sub to consummate the 
transactions contemplated by this Agreement are subject to the 
fulfillment, at or before the Closing Date, of the following 
conditions, any one or more of which may be waived by Parent and 
Merger Sub in their sole discretion:

     Section 14.1.  Representations and Warranties of the 
Company.  All representations and warranties made by 
the Company in this Agreement shall have been true and correct when 
made, and Parent shall have received a certificate to that effect 

dated the Closing Date and signed by any Vice President of the 
Company.

     Section 14.2.  Performance of the Obligations of the 
Company.  The Company shall have performed all 
obligations required under this Agreement to be performed by it on 
or before the Closing Date, and Parent shall have received a 
certificate to that effect dated the Closing Date and signed by any 
Vice President of the Company.

     Section 14.3.  Company Payments.  The Company shall have (i) paid 
any and all payments required to be made by the Company to its and 
the ESOP's and MSOP's accountants, attorneys and financial advisors 
for all services rendered, and expenses advanced, in connection with 
the Merger and (ii) received a release from each of the executives 
and present and former employees of the Company listed on Schedule 
14.3 of all claims against the Company (such release to be in form 
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and substance reasonably acceptable to Parent) prior to the payment 
to any such Person of any and all payments required to be made by 
the Company to such Person by reason, or as a result of, the Merger, 
in the amounts set forth next to such Person's name on Schedule 
14.3.

     Section 14.4.  No Violation of Orders.  No preliminary or permanent 
injunction or other order issued by any court or governmental or 
regulatory authority, domestic or foreign, nor any statute, rule, 
regulation, decree or executive order promulgated or enacted by any 
Governmental Entity, which declares this Agreement invalid in any 
respect or prevents the consummation of the transactions  
contemplated hereby, or which materially and adversely affects the 
assets, properties, operations, prospects, net income or financial 
condition of the Company shall be in effect; and no action or 
proceeding before any court or governmental or regulatory authority, 
domestic or foreign, shall have been instituted or threatened by any 
Governmental Entity which seeks to prevent or delay the consummation 
of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or which 
challenges the validity or enforceability of this Agreement, and 
which in either such case has a reasonable likelihood of success in 



the opinion of counsel to Parent.

     Section 14.5.  Opinion of Counsel.  Parent shall have received an 
opinion, dated as of the Closing Date, from Amos, Jeffries & 
Robinson L.L.P., covering the matters set forth on Exhibit B, 
subject to customary qualifications, limitations and qualifications 
for opinions given in transactions of the kind contemplated hereby.

     Section 14.6.  Legal Matters.  All certificates, instruments, opinions 
and other documents required to be executed or delivered by or on behalf 
of the Company under the provisions of this Agreement, and all other 
actions and proceedings required to be taken by or on behalf of the 
Company in furtherance of the transactions contemplated hereby, 
shall be reasonably satisfactory in form and substance to counsel to 
Parent.

                                 ARTICLE XV.

                                TERMINATION.

     Section 15.1.  Conditions of Termination.  Notwithstanding 
anything to the contrary contained herein, this Agreement may be 
terminated at any time before the Closing:

     (a)   By mutual consent of the board of directors of the 
Company and the board of directors of Parent;

     (b)   By the Company or Parent if:  (i) there shall be a 
final, non-appealable order of a federal or state court in effect 
preventing consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby; or 
(ii) there shall be any final action taken, or any statute, rule, 
regulation or order enacted, promulgated or issued or deemed 
applicable to the transactions contemplated hereby by any 
Governmental Entity which would make consummation of the 
transactions contemplated hereby illegal; or
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     (c)   By the Company or Parent if the Closing shall not 
have been consummated by December 23, 1998.

     Section 15.2.  Effect of Termination.  In the event of the 
termination of this Agreement as provided in Section 15.1 hereof, 
this Agreement shall forthwith become void and there shall be no 
liability or obligation on the part of the Company, Parent or Merger 
Sub, or their respective officers, directors, stockholders, 
partners, option holders or other Persons under their control, 
except to the extent that such termination results from the willful 
breach by a party hereto of any of its representations, warranties, 
covenants or agreements set forth in this Agreement, and provided 
that the provisions of Articles XV, XVI and XVII hereof shall remain 
in full force and effect and survive any termination of this 
Agreement.

                                 ARTICLE XVI.

                                  SURVIVAL.

     Section 16.1.  Survival of Representations and Warranties.  No 
representations or warranties contained in this Agreement shall survive the 
Effective Date.  The covenants made by the parties in this Agreement with 
respect to action to be taken or omitted after the Closing Date shall survive 
the Closing and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this 
Agreement.

                                ARTICLE XVII.

                                MISCELLANEOUS.

     Section 17.1.  Successors and Assigns.  Except as otherwise provided 
in this Agreement, no party hereto shall assign this Agreement or 
any rights or obligations hereunder without the prior written 
consent of the other parties hereto and any such attempted 
assignment without such prior written consent shall be void and of 
no force and effect.  This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of 
and shall be binding upon the successors and permitted assigns of 
the parties hereto.

     Section 17.2.  Governing Law, Jurisdiction.  This Agreement 
shall be construed, performed and enforced in accordance with, and 
governed by, the laws of the State of Delaware, without giving 
effect to the principles of conflicts of laws thereof.  The parties 
hereto irrevocably elect as the sole judicial forum for the 
adjudication of any matters arising under or in connection with this 
Agreement, and consent to the jurisdiction of, the courts of the 



State of Delaware or the United States of America for the District 
of Delaware.

     Section 17.3.  Expenses.  All the fees, expenses and costs incurred 
in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby 
shall be paid by the party incurring such fees, expenses and costs.
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     Section 17.4.  Broker's and Finder's Fees.  Parent represents 
and warrants that it has dealt with no broker or finder in 
connection with any of the transactions contemplated by this 
Agreement.  The Company represents and warrants that neither the 
Company nor the ESOP Trustee has dealt with any broker or finder in 
connection with any of the transactions contemplated by this 
Agreement.

     Section 17.5.  Severability.  In the event that any part of this 
Agreement is declared by any court or other judicial or 
administrative body to be null, void or unenforceable, said 
provision shall survive to the extent it is not so declared, and all 
of the other provisions of this Agreement shall remain in full force 
and effect so long as, and only so long as, the economic or legal 
substance of the transactions contemplated hereby is not affected in 
any manner materially adverse to any party hereto or to the 
stockholders of the Company or Parent.  Upon a determination that 
any provision is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced and 
does not adversely affect the substance of these transactions in a 
material way, the Parties will negotiate in good faith to modify 
this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the Parties as 
closely as possible in an acceptable manner to the end that the 
transactions contemplated by this Agreement are consummated to the 
extent possible.

     Section 17.6.  Notices.  All notices, requests, demands and other 
communications under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed 
to have been duly given (i) on the date of service if served personally on 
the party to whom notice is to be given; (ii) on the day of 
transmission if sent via facsimile transmission to the facsimile 
number given below, and telephonic confirmation of receipt is 
obtained promptly after completion of transmission; (iii) on the day 
after delivery to Federal Express or similar overnight courier or 
the Express Mail service maintained by the United States Postal 
Service; or (iv) on the fifth day after mailing, if mailed to the 
party to whom notice is to be given, by first class mail, registered 
or certified, postage prepaid and properly addressed, to the party 
as follows:

If to the Company:

                      Halstead Industries, Inc.
                      300 North Greene Street
                      Suite 1700
                      Greensboro, North Carolina  27401
                      Attn:  Michael E. Stoll
                      Telecopy:  (336) 274-5619

Copy to:

                      Amos, Jeffries & Robinson, L.L.P.
                      230 North Elm Street
                      Greensboro, North Carolina 27401
                      Attn:  Jerry W. Amos, Esq.
                      Telecopy:  (336) 273-2435
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If to Parent or Merger Sub:

                      Mueller Industries
                      6799 Great Oaks Road, Suite 200
                      Memphis, Tennessee  38138
                      Attn:  William H. Hensley, Esq.
                      Telecopy:  (901) 753-3251

Copy to:

                      Willkie Farr & Gallagher
                      787 Seventh Avenue
                      New York, New York  10019



                      Attn:  Neil Novikoff, Esq.
                      Telecopy:  (212) 728-8111

     Any party may change its address for the purpose of this 
Section by giving the other party written notice of its new address 
in the manner set forth above.

     Section 17.7.  Amendments; Waivers.  This Agreement may be amended 
or modified, and any of the terms, covenants, representations, 
warranties or conditions hereof may be waived, only by a written 
instrument executed by the parties hereto, or in the case of a 
waiver, by the party waiving compliance.  Any waiver by any party of 
any condition, or of the breach of any provision, term, covenant, 
representation or warranty contained in this Agreement, in any one 
or more instances, shall not be deemed to be nor construed as a 
further or continuing waiver of any such condition, or of the breach 
of any other provision, term, covenant, representation or warranty 
of this Agreement.

     Section 17.8.  Public Announcements.  No party shall issue any press 
release or make any public announcement relating to the subject 
matter of this Agreement without the prior written approval of the 
other party; provided, however, that any party may make any public 
disclosure it believes in good faith is required by applicable law 
or any listing or trading agreement concerning its publicly-traded 
securities (in which case the disclosing party will use its 
reasonable efforts to advise the other party prior to making the 
disclosure).

     Section 17.9.  Entire Agreement.  This Agreement contains the entire 
understanding among the parties hereto with respect to the 
transactions contemplated hereby and supersedes and replaces all 
prior and contemporaneous agreements and understandings, oral or 
written, with regard to such transactions.  All Exhibits and 
Schedules hereto and any documents and instruments delivered 
pursuant to any provision hereof are expressly made a part of this 
Agreement as fully as though completely set forth herein.

     Section 17.10.  Parties in Interest.  Nothing in this Agreement is 
intended to confer any rights or remedies under or by reason of this 
Agreement on any Persons other than parties hereto and their 
respective successors and permitted assigns; provided, however, that 
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the members of the Board of Directors at the time of the execution 
of this Agreement shall have the right to enforce the provisions of 
Sections 9.8 and 10.5 of this Agreement.  Nothing in this Agreement 
is intended to relieve or discharge the obligations or liability of 
any third Persons to the Company or Parent.  Except as set forth in 
this Section 17.10 and except as set forth in Section 11.5, no 
provision of this Agreement shall give any third parties any right 
of subrogation or action over or against the Company or Parent.

     Section 17.11.  Scheduled Disclosures.  Unless otherwise provided in 
this Agreement, disclosure of any matter, fact or circumstance in a 
Schedule to this Agreement shall not be deemed to be disclosure 
thereof for purposes of any other Schedule hereto.

     Section 17.12.  Section and Paragraph Headings.  The 
section and paragraph headings in this Agreement are for reference 
purposes only and shall not affect the meaning or interpretation of 
this Agreement.

     Section 17.13.  Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in 
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of 
which shall constitute the same instrument

     IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this 
Agreement to be executed as of the date first above written.

                                MUELLER INDUSTRIES, INC.
                                By:/s/ William H. Hensley
                                       William H. Hensley
                                       Vice President, General Counsel and 
                                       Secretary

                                MUELLER ACQUISITION CORP.
                                By:/s/ William H. Hensley
                                       William H. Hensley
                                       President

                                HALSTEAD INDUSTRIES, INC.
                                By:/s/ William B. Halstead



                                       William B. Halstead
                                       Chief Executive Officer and 
                                       Chairman of the Board
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                                                                 Exhibit A

                [Form of Opinion of Parent's General Counsel]

     [Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall 
have the meaning set forth in the Agreement and Plan of Merger]

     1.   Each of Parent and Merger Sub is a corporation 
duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the 
laws of the State of Delaware, and has all requisite corporate 
power and authority to own its properties and assets and to 
conduct its businesses as now conducted.  Each of Parent and 
Merger Sub is duly qualified to do business as a foreign 
corporation and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which 
the character of the properties owned or leased by it or the 
nature of the business conducted by it makes such qualification 
necessary and wherein the failure to be so qualified and in good 
standing would not have a material adverse effect on Parent and 
its subsidiaries considered as one enterprise.

     2.   Each of Parent and Merger Sub has all requisite 
corporate power and authority to enter into the Agreement and 
Plan of Merger and to carry out its obligations thereunder.  The 
execution and delivery by Parent and Merger Sub of the Agreement 
and Plan of Merger and the performance of the obligations of 
Parent and Merger Sub thereunder have been duly authorized by all 
necessary corporate action by the Board of Directors of Parent 
and Merger Sub, and no other corporate proceedings on the part of 
Parent or Merger Sub are necessary to authorize such execution, 
delivery and performance.  The Agreement and Plan of Merger has 
been duly executed by Parent and Merger Sub and constitutes the 
valid and binding obligation of Parent and Merger Sub, 
enforceable against them in accordance with its terms.

     3.   The execution, delivery and performance by Parent 
and Merger Sub of the Agreement and Plan of Merger do not and 
will not (i) violate or conflict with any provision of the 
Certificate of Incorporation or By-Laws of Parent or Merger Sub, 
(ii) to the knowledge of such counsel, violate any provision of 
law, or any order, judgment or decree of any court or other 
governmental or regulatory authority, (iii) violate or result in 
a breach of or constitute (with due notice or lapse of time or 
both) a default under any contract, lease, loan agreement, 
mortgage, security agreement, trust indenture or other agreement 
or instrument known to such counsel to which Parent or Merger Sub 
is a party or by which it is bound or to which any of its 
properties or assets is subject, (iv) result in the creation or 
imposition of any Lien upon any of the assets, properties or 
rights of Parent or Merger Sub, or (v) result in the 
cancellation, modification, revocation or suspension of any 
license or permit material to the business of the Parent, other 
than, in case of (iii), (iv) and (v) above, any such conflicts, 
violations, defaults, rights or Liens that, individually or in 
the aggregate, would not have a material adverse effect on the 
business of Parent and its Subsidiaries considered as one 
enterprise, materially impair the ability of Parent to perform 
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its obligations thereunder or prevent the consummation of any of 
the transactions contemplated by the Agreement and Plan of 
Merger.

     4.   The execution and delivery of the Agreement and 
Plan of Merger by Parent and Merger Sub and the performance by 
Parent and Merger Sub of their obligations thereunder do not 



require any consents, waivers, authorizations or approvals of any 
Governmental Entity, or of any other Person, or declarations to 
or filings or registrations with any such Governmental Entity, 
except such consents, waivers, authorizations, approvals, 
filings, declarations, filings or registrations (i) as have been 
duly obtained or made, as applicable, and are in full force and 
effect or (ii) of which the failure to obtain or make would not, 
individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect 
on the ability of Parent or Merger Sub to consummate the 
transactions contemplated by Agreement and Plan of Merger.
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                                                                 Exhibit B

                 [Form of Opinion to Counsel to the Company]

     [Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall 
have the meaning set forth in the Agreement and Plan of Merger]

     1.   The Company is a corporation duly organized, 
validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State 
of Delaware, and has all requisite corporate power and authority 
to own its properties and assets and to conduct its business as 
now conducted.  The Company is duly qualified to do business as a 
foreign corporation and is in good standing in those 
jurisdictions listed on Schedule 5.2 to the Agreement and Plan of 
Merger, which are the only jurisdictions in which the character 
of the properties owned or leased by the Company or the nature of 
the business conducted by the Company makes such qualification 
necessary and wherein the failure to be so qualified and in good 
standing would not have a material adverse effect on the Company.

     2.   The Company has all requisite corporate power and 
authority to enter into the Agreement and Plan of Merger and to 
carry out its obligations thereunder.  The execution and delivery 
of the Agreement and Plan of Merger and the performance of the 
Company's obligations thereunder have been duly authorized by all 
necessary corporate action by the Board of Directors of the 
Company, and no other corporate proceedings on the part of the 
Company are necessary to authorize such execution, delivery and 
performance.  The Agreement and Plan of Merger has been duly 
executed by the Company and constitutes the Company's valid and 
binding obligation, enforceable against the Company in accordance 
with its terms.



     3.   The consummation by the Company of the Merger and 
the other transactions contemplated by the Agreement and Plan of 
Merger will not (i) violate or conflict with any provision of the 
Certificate of Incorporation or By-Laws of the Company, (ii) to 
the knowledge of such counsel, violate any provision of law, or 
any order, judgment or decree of any court or other governmental 
or regulatory authority, (iii) violate or result in a breach of 
or constitute (with due notice or lapse of time or both) a 
default under any contract, lease, loan agreement, mortgage, 
security agreement, trust indenture or other agreement or 
instrument to which the Company is a party or by which it is 
bound or to which any of its properties or assets is subject, 
(iv) result in the creation or imposition of any Lien upon any of 
the assets, properties or rights of the Company, or (v) result in 
the cancellation, modification, revocation or suspension of any 
of the Licenses and Permits, other than, in the case of (iii), 
(iv) and (v) above, any such conflicts, violations, defaults, 
rights or Liens that, individually or in the aggregate, would not 
have a material adverse effect on the Company or its business as 
now conducted, materially impair the ability of the Company to 
perform its obligations thereunder or have a material adverse 
effect on the ability of the Company to consummate the 
transactions contemplated by the Agreement and Plan of Merger.
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     4.   The execution and delivery of the Agreement and 
Plan of Merger by the Company and the performance by the Company 
of its obligations thereunder do not require any consents, 
waivers, authorizations or approvals of any Governmental Entity, 
or, to the knowledge of such counsel, of any other Person, or 
declarations to or filings or registrations with any such 
Governmental Entity, except such consents, waivers, 
authorizations, approvals, filings, declarations, filings or 
registrations (i) as have been duly obtained or made, as 
applicable, and are in full force and effect or (ii) of which the 
failure to obtain or make would not have a material adverse 
effect on the Company or its business as now conducted or have a 
material adverse effect on the ability of the Company to 
consummate the transactions contemplated by the Agreement and 
Plan of Merger.

     5.   The authorized capital stock of the Company 
consists of 12,000 shares of Company Common Stock, of which 
10,970 shares are issued (7,461 shares of Company Common Stock 
are held as treasury stock and 3,509 shares of Company Common 
Stock are outstanding).  To the knowledge of such counsel: (i) 
except as set forth above or on Schedule 5.5 to the Agreement and 
Plan of Merger, no shares of Company Common Stock are 
outstanding; (ii) the Company does not have outstanding any 
securities convertible into or exchangeable for any shares of 
capital stock, any rights to subscribe for or to purchase or any 
options for the purchase of, or any agreements providing for the 
issuance (contingent or otherwise) of, or any calls, commitments 
or claims of any other character relating to the issuance of, any 
capital stock, or any stock or securities convertible into or 
exchangeable for any capital stock; and the Company is not 
subject to any obligation (contingent or otherwise) to repurchase 
or otherwise acquire or retire, or to register under the 
Securities Act, any shares of capital stock; and (iii) the 
Company does not have outstanding any bonds, debentures, notes or 
other obligations the holders of which have the right to vote (or 
convertible into or exercisable for securities having the right 
to vote) with the stockholders of the Company on any matter.  The 
outstanding shares of Company Common Stock have been duly 
authorized and validly issued and are fully paid and 
nonassessable.

     6.   Except as set forth on Schedule 5.17 to the 
Agreement and Plan of Merger, to the knowledge of such counsel, 
there are no claims, actions, suits, proceedings, labor disputes 
or investigations pending or threatened, before any national, 
state or local court or governmental or regulatory authority, 
domestic or foreign, or before any arbitrator of any nature, 
brought by or against the Company or any of its officers, 
directors, employees, agents or Affiliates involving, affecting 
or relating to the Company, the assets, properties or rights of 
the Company or the transactions contemplated by the Agreement and 
Plan of Merger.
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                          STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT

     STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT, dated as of October 30, 1998 (the 
"Agreement"), between MUELLER INDUSTRIES, INC., a Delaware corporation 
("Parent"), MUELLER ACQUISITION CORP., a Delaware corporation and a wholly 
owned subsidiary of Parent ("Merger Sub"), and the stockholder of HALSTEAD 
INDUSTRIES, INC., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), whose name 
appears on the signature page hereto (the "Stockholder").

                                   RECITALS

     WHEREAS, the Stockholder own shares (the "Shares") of the Company's 
common stock, par value $.10 per share ("Company Common Stock"), which, 
together with shares of Company Common Stock being purchased by Merger Sub 
on the date hereof, represent more than 50% of the issued and outstanding 
Company Common Stock;

     WHEREAS, Merger Sub desires to purchase the Shares and the Stockholder 
desires to sell the Shares, in each case, upon the terms and subject to the 
conditions herein; and

     WHEREAS, concurrently with the execution and delivery of this 
Agreement, Parent, Merger Sub and the Company are entering into an Amended 
and Restated Agreement and Plan of Merger (the "Merger Agreement"), 
pursuant to which Merger Sub will be merged with and into the Company.

     NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the respective 
covenants and agreements hereinafter contained, the parties hereby agree as 
follows:

     1.   Purchase and Sale of Shares.

     (a) Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement 
and in reliance upon the representations and warranties of the Stockholder 
set forth below, on the date hereof Merger Sub shall purchase from the 
Stockholder and the Stockholder shall sell to Merger Sub, the number of 
Shares set forth opposite the Stockholder's name on Schedule 1 hereto, free 
and clear of all mortgages, pledges, security interests, encumbrances, 
liens (statutory or other), conditional sale agreements, claims, charges, 
limitations or restrictions ("Liens").  The aggregate purchase price for 
the Shares being sold by the Stockholder (the "Purchase Price") shall be 
the cash amount set forth opposite the Stockholder's name on Schedule 1 
hereto.

     (b) The purchase and sale referred to in Section 1(a) shall be 
effected on the date hereof by the Stockholder delivering to Merger Sub 
stock certificate(s) evidencing the Shares being purchased by Merger Sub 
from the Stockholder, duly endorsed for transfer, against delivery by 
Parent to the Stockholder of the Purchase Price for such Shares.  Payment 
of the Purchase Price shall be made by wire transfer of immediately 
available funds to the Stockholder to the account or accounts set forth 
opposite the Stockholder's name on Schedule 1 hereto.
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     2.   Representation and Warranties of Parent and Merger Sub.  Parent 
and Merger Sub represent and warrant to the Stockholder as follows:

     (a) Parent is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in 
good standing under the laws of the State of Delaware.  Merger Sub is a 
corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the 
laws of the State of Delaware. 

     (b) Parent and Merger Sub have the requisite corporate power and 
authority to enter into this Agreement and to carry out their obligations 
hereunder.  The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the 
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly 
authorized by Parent's Board of Directors and by Merger Sub's Board of 
Directors and no other corporate proceedings on the part of Parent or 
Merger Sub are necessary to authorize this Agreement and the consummation 
of the transactions contemplated hereby.  This Agreement has been duly 
executed and delivered by Parent and Merger Sub and (assuming the valid 
authorization, execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Stockholder) 
is a valid and binding obligation of Parent and Merger Sub, enforceable in 
accordance with its terms, except as affected by bankruptcy, insolvency, 
fraudulent conveyance, reorganization, moratorium or other similar laws 
relating to or affecting creditors' rights generally and general equitable 
principles (whether considered in a proceeding in equity or at law).

     (c) The execution and delivery of this Agreement by Parent and Merger 
Sub does not, and the performance of this Agreement by Parent and Merger 
Sub will not, (i) conflict with or violate the Certificate of Incorporation 
or By-Laws of Parent, Merger Sub or any of Parent's subsidiaries, (ii) 
conflict with or violate any federal, state, local or foreign law, statute, 



ordinance, rule, regulation, permit, order, judgment or decree 
(collectively, "Laws") applicable to Parent, Merger Sub or any of Parent's 
subsidiaries or by which any of their respective properties is bound, or 
(iii) conflict with, result in any breach of or constitute a default (or an 
event that with notice or lapse of time or both would become a default) 
under, or give to others any rights of termination, amendment, acceleration 
or cancellation of, or require payment under, or result in the creation of 
any Lien on any of the properties or assets of Parent, Merger Sub or any of 
Parent's subsidiaries pursuant to, any note, bond, mortgage, indenture, 
contract, agreement, lease, license, permit, franchise or other instrument 
or obligation to which Parent, Merger Sub or any of Parent's subsidiaries 
or any of their respective properties is bound, except for any thereof that 
could not reasonably be expected to materially impair the ability of Parent 
and Merger Sub to perform their obligations hereunder or to consummate the 
transactions contemplated hereby.

     (d) The execution and delivery of this Agreement by Parent and Merger 
Sub does not require Parent or Merger Sub to obtain any consent, approval, 
authorization or permit of, or to make any filing with or notification to, 
any governmental or regulatory authority, domestic or foreign 
("Governmental Entity"), based on the Laws of any Governmental Entity, 
except where the failure to obtain such consents, approvals, authorizations 
or permits, or to make such filings or notifications, could not reasonably 
be expected to materially impair the ability of Parent and Merger Sub to 
perform their obligations hereunder or to consummate the transactions 
contemplated hereby.
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     (e) There is no suit, action, investigation or proceeding pending or, 
to the knowledge of the executive officers of Parent, threatened against 
Parent, Merger Sub or any of Parent's subsidiaries at law or in equity 
before or by any federal, state, municipal or other governmental 
department, commission, board, bureau, agency or instrumentality, domestic 
or foreign, or before any arbitrator of any kind, that could reasonably be 
expected to materially impair the ability of Parent and Merger Sub to 
perform their obligations hereunder or to consummate the transactions 
contemplated hereby, and there is no judgment, decree, injunction, rule or 
order of any court, governmental department, commission, board, bureau, 
agency, instrumentality or arbitrator to which Parent, Merger Sub or any of 
Parent's subsidiaries is subject that could reasonably be expected to 
materially impair the ability of Parent and Merger Sub to perform their 
obligations hereunder or to consummate the transactions contemplated 
hereby.

     3.   Representation and Warranties of the Stockholder.  The 
Stockholder represents and warrants to Parent and Merger Sub as follows:

     (a) If the Stockholder is a corporation, partnership or trust, the 
Stockholder has been duly organized and is validly existing and in good 
standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its organization and, if the 
Stockholder is a trust, then (i) such Stockholder is a qualified subchapter 
S trust within the meaning of Section 1361(d)(3) of the Internal Revenue 
Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code") and (ii) a beneficiary of such 
Stockholder, or the legal representative of a beneficiary of such 
Stockholder, has made a valid election pursuant to Section 1361(d)(2) of 
the Code to have Section 1361(d) of the Code apply to such Stockholder.

     (b) If the Stockholder is a corporation, partnership or trust, the 
Stockholder has all necessary corporate, partnership or trust power and 
authority (including, if necessary, authority of the beneficial owner of 
the Shares) to enter into this Agreement, to perform its obligations 
hereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby.  If the 
Stockholder is a corporation, partnership or trust, the execution, delivery 
and performance of this Agreement by the Stockholder and the consummation 
by the Stockholder of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly 
authorized by all necessary corporate, partnership or trust action on the 
part of the Stockholder and, if necessary, the beneficial owner of the 
Shares.

     (c) This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the 
Stockholder and (assuming the valid authorization, execution and delivery 
of this Agreement by Parent and Merger Sub) is a valid and binding 
obligation of the Stockholder and, if necessary, the beneficial owner of 
the Shares, enforceable in accordance with its terms, except as affected by 
bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent conveyance, reorganization, moratorium 
or other similar laws relating to or affecting creditors' rights generally 
and general equitable principles (whether considered in a proceeding in 
equity or at law).

     (d) The execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Stockholder 
does not, and the performance of this Agreement by the Stockholder will 
not, if the Stockholder is a corporation, partnership or trust, conflict 
with or violate the Certificate of Incorporation or By-Laws, or other 



organizational documents, of the Stockholder.
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     (e) There is no suit, action, investigation or proceeding pending or, 
to the knowledge of the Stockholder, threatened against the Stockholder at 
law or in equity before or by any federal, state, municipal or other 
governmental department, commission, board, bureau, agency or 
instrumentality, domestic or foreign, or before any arbitrator of any kind, 
that could reasonably be expected to materially impair the ability of the 
Stockholder to perform its obligations hereunder or to consummate the 
transactions contemplated hereby, and there is no judgment, decree, 
injunction, rule or order of any court, governmental department, 
commission, board, bureau, agency, instrumentality or arbitrator to which 
the Stockholder is subject that could reasonably be expected to materially 
impair the ability of the Stockholder to perform its obligations hereunder 
or to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby.

     (f) The Shares set forth opposite the Stockholder's name on Schedule 1 
are owned of record and beneficially by the Stockholder.  Except for shares 
of Company Common Stock owned by the Company's Employee Stock Ownership 
Plan, the Stockholder does not own, of record or beneficially, any 
warrants, options or other rights to acquire any shares of Company Common 
Stock.  The Stockholder has good and valid title to the Shares set forth 
opposite the Stockholder's name on Schedule 1, free and clear of all Liens.

     (g) The Stockholder has duly completed and executed a Form W-9, a copy 
of which is attached hereto as Schedule 2, and has delivered such completed 
and executed Form W-9 to Merger Sub.

     4.   Further Assurances; Expenses.  Parent and Merger Sub agree, 
simultaneously with the execution of this Agreement, to execute and enter 
into that certain Amended and Restated Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated 
as of the date hereof, among Parent, Merger Sub and the Company.  From time 
to time, at the other party's reasonable request and without further 
consideration, each party hereto shall execute and deliver such additional 
documents and take all such further action as may be reasonably necessary 
or desirable to consummate and make effective, in the most expeditious 
manner practicable, the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.  The 
Stockholder agrees, upon the request of Parent, to reimburse Parent for the 
Stockholder's proportionate share (based upon the percentage of the total 
outstanding shares of Company Common Stock owned by the Stockholder) of the 
expenses incurred by the Company for all services rendered, and expenses 
advanced by the accountants, attorneys and financial advisors for the 
Company, the Company's Employee Stock Ownership Plan and the Company's 
Management Stock Ownership Plan, in connection with the Merger prior to the 
Closing Date to the extent that such expenses shall exceed $800,000.

     5.   Survival.  The covenants of the parties hereto, and the 
representations and warranties of the parties hereto, shall survive the 
purchase and sale of the Shares pursuant to this Agreement.

     6.   Miscellaneous.  (a) This Agreement (i) constitutes the entire 
agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and 
supersedes all other prior agreements and understandings, both written and 
oral, between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof 
(including, if applicable, the Amended and Restated Voting Agreement dated 
as of August 6, 1998 to which the Stockholder is a party) and (ii) shall 
not be assigned by operation of law or otherwise.
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     (b) This Agreement may not be amended or supplemented, except upon the 
execution and delivery of a written agreement executed by the parties 
hereto.  Parent, Merger Sub or the Stockholder may, from time to time, 
waive, on such terms and conditions as Parent, Merger Sub or the 
Stockholder, as the case may be, may specify in such instrument, any of the 
requirements of this Agreement.  Any such amendment shall be binding upon 
the parties thereto and any such waiver shall be binding upon Parent, 
Merger Sub or the Stockholder, as the case may be, executing the same.  No 
such waiver shall extend to any subsequent or other event or circumstance 
or impair any right consequent thereon.

     (c) All notices and other communications hereunder shall be in writing 
and shall be deemed given (i) on the date delivered, if delivered 
personally, (ii) on the first business day following the deposit thereof 
with Federal Express, if sent by Federal Express, and (iii) on the fourth 
business day following the mailing thereof with postage prepaid, if mailed 
by registered or certified mail (return receipt requested), in each case to 
the parties at the following addresses (or at such other address for a 
party as shall be specified by like notice):

        (i) if to the Stockholder, to it at its address set forth on 
Schedule 1; and



        (ii) if to Parent or Merger Sub, to Parent at:

               Mueller Industries, Inc.
               6799 Great Oaks Road
               Suite 200
               Memphis, Tennessee  38138
               Attention:  William H. Hensley, Esq.
                           Vice President, General Counsel and 
                           Secretary

               with a copy to:

               Willkie Farr & Gallagher
               787 Seventh Avenue
               New York, New York  10019-6099
               Attention:  Neil Novikoff, Esq.

     (d)   This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance 
with the laws of the State of Delaware, regardless of the laws that might 
otherwise govern under applicable principles of conflicts of laws thereof.

     (e)   This Agreement may be executed in two counterparts, each of 
which shall be deemed to be an original, but both of which shall constitute 
one and the same Agreement.

     (f)   The descriptive headings used herein are inserted for 
convenience of reference only and are not intended to be part of or to 
affect the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.
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     (g)   If any term or other provision of this Agreement is invalid, 
illegal or incapable of being enforced by any rule of law or public policy, 
all other conditions and provisions of this Agreement shall nevertheless 
remain in full force and effect so long as the economic or legal substance 
of the transactions contemplated hereby is not affected in any manner 
adverse to any party.  Upon such determination that any term or other 
provision is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced, the parties 
hereto shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to 
effect the original intent of the parties as closely as possible in an 
acceptable manner to the end that the transactions contemplated hereby are 
fulfilled to the fullest extent possible.

     IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Parent, Merger Sub and the Stockholder have caused 
this Agreement to be duly executed as of the day and year first above 
written.

                                           MUELLER INDUSTRIES, INC.

                                           By:
                                              ---------------------------
                                           Name:
                                           Title:

                                           MUELLER ACQUISITION CORP.

                                           By:
                                              ---------------------------
                                           Name:
                                           Title:

                                           STOCKHOLDER:

                                           ------------------------------



                                      -6-



                          STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT

     STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT, dated as of October 30, 1998 (the 
"Agreement"), between MUELLER INDUSTRIES, INC., a Delaware corporation 
("Parent"), MUELLER ACQUISITION CORP., a Delaware corporation and a wholly 
owned subsidiary of Parent ("Merger Sub"), and the stockholder of HALSTEAD 
INDUSTRIES, INC., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), whose name appears 
on the signature page hereto (the "Stockholder").

                                  RECITALS

     WHEREAS, the Stockholder own shares (the "Shares") of the Company's 
common stock, par value $.10 per share ("Company Common Stock"), which, 
together with shares of Company Common Stock being purchased by Merger Sub 
on the date hereof, represent more than 50% of the issued and outstanding 
Company Common Stock;

     WHEREAS, Merger Sub desires to purchase the Shares and the Stockholder 
desires to sell the Shares, in each case, upon the terms and subject to the 
conditions herein; and

     WHEREAS, concurrently with the execution and delivery of this 
Agreement, Parent, Merger Sub and the Company are entering into an Amended 
and Restated Agreement and Plan of Merger (the "Merger Agreement"), pursuant 
to which Merger Sub will be merged with and into the Company.

     NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the respective 
covenants and agreements hereinafter contained, the parties hereby agree as 
follows:

     1.   Purchase and Sale of Shares.

     (a) Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement and 
in reliance upon the representations and warranties of the Stockholder set 
forth below, on the date hereof Merger Sub shall purchase from the 
Stockholder and the Stockholder shall sell to Merger Sub, the number of 
Shares set forth opposite the Stockholder's name on Schedule 1 hereto, free 
and clear of all mortgages, pledges, security interests, encumbrances, liens 
(statutory or other), conditional sale agreements, claims, charges, 
limitations or restrictions ("Liens").  The aggregate purchase price for the 
Shares being sold by the Stockholder (the "Purchase Price") shall be the 
cash amount set forth opposite the Stockholder's name on Schedule 1 hereto.

     (b) The purchase and sale referred to in Section 1(a) shall be effected 
on the date hereof by the Stockholder delivering to Merger Sub stock 
certificate(s) evidencing the Shares being purchased by Merger Sub from the 
Stockholder, duly endorsed for transfer, against delivery by Parent to the 
Stockholder of the Purchase Price for such Shares.  Payment of the Purchase 
Price shall be made by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the 
Stockholder to the account or accounts set forth opposite the Stockholder's 
name on Schedule 1 hereto.
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     2.   Representation and Warranties of Parent and Merger Sub.  Parent 
and Merger Sub represent and warrant to the Stockholder as follows:

     (a) Parent is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in 
good standing under the laws of the State of Delaware.  Merger Sub is a 
corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the 
laws of the State of Delaware. 

     (b) Parent and Merger Sub have the requisite corporate power and 
authority to enter into this Agreement and to carry out their obligations 
hereunder.  The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the 
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly 
authorized by Parent's Board of Directors and by Merger Sub's Board of 
Directors and no other corporate proceedings on the part of Parent or Merger 
Sub are necessary to authorize this Agreement and the consummation of the 
transactions contemplated hereby.  This Agreement has been duly executed and 
delivered by Parent and Merger Sub and (assuming the valid authorization, 
execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Stockholder) is a valid and 
binding obligation of Parent and Merger Sub, enforceable in accordance with 
its terms, except as affected by bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent 
conveyance, reorganization, moratorium or other similar laws relating to or 
affecting creditors' rights generally and general equitable principles 
(whether considered in a proceeding in equity or at law).

     (c) The execution and delivery of this Agreement by Parent and Merger 
Sub does not, and the performance of this Agreement by Parent and Merger Sub 
will not, (i) conflict with or violate the Certificate of Incorporation or 
By-Laws of Parent, Merger Sub or any of Parent's subsidiaries, (ii) conflict 
with or violate any federal, state, local or foreign law, statute, 



ordinance, rule, regulation, permit, order, judgment or decree 
(collectively, "Laws") applicable to Parent, Merger Sub or any of Parent's 
subsidiaries or by which any of their respective properties is bound, or 
(iii) conflict with, result in any breach of or constitute a default (or an 
event that with notice or lapse of time or both would become a default) 
under, or give to others any rights of termination, amendment, acceleration 
or cancellation of, or require payment under, or result in the creation of 
any Lien on any of the properties or assets of Parent, Merger Sub or any of 
Parent's subsidiaries pursuant to, any note, bond, mortgage, indenture, 
contract, agreement, lease, license, permit, franchise or other instrument 
or obligation to which Parent, Merger Sub or any of Parent's subsidiaries or 
any of their respective properties is bound, except for any thereof that 
could not reasonably be expected to materially impair the ability of Parent 
and Merger Sub to perform their obligations hereunder or to consummate the 
transactions contemplated hereby.

     (d) The execution and delivery of this Agreement by Parent and Merger 
Sub does not require Parent or Merger Sub to obtain any consent, approval, 
authorization or permit of, or to make any filing with or notification to, 
any governmental or regulatory authority, domestic or foreign ("Governmental 
Entity"), based on the Laws of any Governmental Entity, except where the 
failure to obtain such consents, approvals, authorizations or permits, or to 
make such filings or notifications, could not reasonably be expected to 
materially impair the ability of Parent and Merger Sub to perform their 
obligations hereunder or to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby.
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     (e) There is no suit, action, investigation or proceeding pending or, 
to the knowledge of the executive officers of Parent, threatened against 
Parent, Merger Sub or any of Parent's subsidiaries at law or in equity 
before or by any federal, state, municipal or other governmental department, 
commission, board, bureau, agency or instrumentality, domestic or foreign, 
or before any arbitrator of any kind, that could reasonably be expected to 
materially impair the ability of Parent and Merger Sub to perform their 
obligations hereunder or to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby, 
and there is no judgment, decree, injunction, rule or order of any court, 
governmental department, commission, board, bureau, agency, instrumentality 
or arbitrator to which Parent, Merger Sub or any of Parent's subsidiaries is 
subject that could reasonably be expected to materially impair the ability 
of Parent and Merger Sub to perform their obligations hereunder or to 
consummate the transactions contemplated hereby.

     3.   Representation and Warranties of the Stockholder.  The Stockholder 
represents and warrants to Parent and Merger Sub as follows:

     (a) If the Stockholder is a corporation, partnership or trust, the 
Stockholder has been duly organized and is validly existing and in good 
standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its organization and, if the 
Stockholder is a trust, then (i) such Stockholder is a qualified subchapter 
S trust within the meaning of Section 1361(d)(3) of the Internal Revenue 
Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code") and (ii) a beneficiary of such 
Stockholder, or the legal representative of a beneficiary of such 
Stockholder, has made a valid election pursuant to Section 1361(d)(2) of the 
Code to have Section 1361(d) of the Code apply to such Stockholder.

     (b) If the Stockholder is a corporation, partnership or trust, the 
Stockholder has all necessary corporate, partnership or trust power and 
authority (including, if necessary, authority of the beneficial owner of the 
Shares) to enter into this Agreement, to perform its obligations hereunder 
and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby.  If the Stockholder 
is a corporation, partnership or trust, the execution, delivery and 
performance of this Agreement by the Stockholder and the consummation by the 
Stockholder of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly 
authorized by all necessary corporate, partnership or trust action on the 
part of the Stockholder and, if necessary, the beneficial owner of the 
Shares.

     (c) This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the 
Stockholder and (assuming the valid authorization, execution and delivery of 
this Agreement by Parent and Merger Sub) is a valid and binding obligation 
of the Stockholder and, if necessary, the beneficial owner of the Shares, 
enforceable in accordance with its terms, except as affected by bankruptcy, 
insolvency, fraudulent conveyance, reorganization, moratorium or other 
similar laws relating to or affecting creditors' rights generally and 
general equitable principles (whether considered in a proceeding in equity 
or at law).

     (d) The execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Stockholder 
does not, and the performance of this Agreement by the Stockholder will not, 
if the Stockholder is a corporation, partnership or trust, conflict with or 
violate the Certificate of Incorporation or By-Laws, or other organizational 
documents, of the Stockholder.
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     (e) There is no suit, action, investigation or proceeding pending or, 
to the knowledge of the Stockholder, threatened against the Stockholder at 
law or in equity before or by any federal, state, municipal or other 
governmental department, commission, board, bureau, agency or 
instrumentality, domestic or foreign, or before any arbitrator of any kind, 
that could reasonably be expected to materially impair the ability of the 
Stockholder to perform its obligations hereunder or to consummate the 
transactions contemplated hereby, and there is no judgment, decree, 
injunction, rule or order of any court, governmental department, commission, 
board, bureau, agency, instrumentality or arbitrator to which the 
Stockholder is subject that could reasonably be expected to materially 
impair the ability of the Stockholder to perform its obligations hereunder 
or to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby.

     (f) The Shares set forth opposite the Stockholder's name on Schedule 1 
are owned of record and beneficially by the Stockholder.  Except for shares 
of Company Common Stock owned by the Company's Employee Stock Ownership 
Plan, the Stockholder does not own, of record or beneficially, any warrants, 
options or other rights to acquire any shares of Company Common Stock.  The 
Stockholder has good and valid title to the Shares set forth opposite the 
Stockholder's name on Schedule 1, free and clear of all Liens.

     (g) The Stockholder has duly completed and executed a Form W-9, a copy 
of which is attached hereto as Schedule 2, and has delivered such completed 
and executed Form W-9 to Merger Sub.

     4.   Further Assurances; Expenses.  From time to time, at the other 
party's reasonable request and without further consideration, each party 
hereto shall execute and deliver such additional documents and take all such 
further action as may be reasonably necessary or desirable to consummate and 
make effective, in the most expeditious manner practicable, the transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement.  The Stockholder agrees, upon the request of 
Parent, to reimburse Parent for the Stockholder's proportionate share (based 
upon the number of shares of Company Common Stock owned by the Stockholder) 
of the expenses incurred by the Company for all services rendered, and 
expenses advanced by the accountants, attorneys and financial advisors for 
the Company, the Company's Employee Stock Ownership Plan and the Company's 
Management Stock Ownership Plan, in connection with the Merger prior to the 
Closing Date to the extent that such expenses shall exceed $800,000.

     5.   Survival.  The covenants of the parties hereto, and the 
representations and warranties of the parties hereto, shall survive the 
purchase and sale of the Shares pursuant to this Agreement.

     6.   Miscellaneous.  (a) This Agreement (i) constitutes the entire 
agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and 
supersedes all other prior agreements and understandings, both written and 
oral, between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof 
(including, if applicable, the Amended and Restated Voting Agreement dated 
as of August 6, 1998 to which the Stockholder is a party) and (ii) shall not 
be assigned by operation of law or otherwise.
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     (b) This Agreement may not be amended or supplemented, except upon the 
execution and delivery of a written agreement executed by the parties 
hereto.  Parent, Merger Sub or the Stockholder may, from time to time, 
waive, on such terms and conditions as Parent, Merger Sub or the 
Stockholder, as the case may be, may specify in such instrument, any of the 
requirements of this Agreement.  Any such amendment shall be binding upon 
the parties thereto and any such waiver shall be binding upon Parent, Merger 
Sub or the Stockholder, as the case may be, executing the same.  No such 
waiver shall extend to any subsequent or other event or circumstance or 
impair any right consequent thereon.

     (c) All notices and other communications hereunder shall be in writing 
and shall be deemed given (i) on the date delivered, if delivered 
personally, (ii) on the first business day following the deposit thereof 
with Federal Express, if sent by Federal Express, and (iii) on the fourth 
business day following the mailing thereof with postage prepaid, if mailed 
by registered or certified mail (return receipt requested), in each case to 
the parties at the following addresses (or at such other address for a party 
as shall be specified by like notice):

        (i) if to the Stockholder, to it at its address set forth on 
Schedule 1; and



        (ii) if to Parent or Merger Sub, to Parent at:

               Mueller Industries, Inc.
               6799 Great Oaks Road
               Suite 200
               Memphis, Tennessee  38138
               Attention:     William H. Hensley, Esq.
                              Vice President, General Counsel and 
                              Secretary

               with a copy to:

               Willkie Farr & Gallagher
               787 Seventh Avenue
               New York, New York  10019-6099
               Attention:     Neil Novikoff, Esq.

     (d) This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance 
with the laws of the State of Delaware, regardless of the laws that might 
otherwise govern under applicable principles of conflicts of laws thereof.

     (e) This Agreement may be executed in two counterparts, each of which 
shall be deemed to be an original, but both of which shall constitute one 
and the same Agreement.

     (f) The descriptive headings used herein are inserted for convenience 
of reference only and are not intended to be part of or to affect the 
meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.
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     (g) If any term or other provision of this Agreement is invalid, 
illegal or incapable of being enforced by any rule of law or public policy, 
all other conditions and provisions of this Agreement shall nevertheless 
remain in full force and effect so long as the economic or legal substance 
of the transactions contemplated hereby is not affected in any manner 
adverse to any party.  Upon such determination that any term or other 
provision is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced, the parties 
hereto shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to 
effect the original intent of the parties as closely as possible in an 
acceptable manner to the end that the transactions contemplated hereby are 
fulfilled to the fullest extent possible.

     IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Parent, Merger Sub and the Stockholder have caused 
this Agreement to be duly executed as of the day and year first above 
written.

                                           MUELLER INDUSTRIES, INC.

                                           By:
                                              ---------------------------
                                           Name:
                                           Title:

                                           MUELLER ACQUISITION CORP.

                                           By:
                                              ---------------------------
                                           Name:
                                           Title:

                                           STOCKHOLDER:

                                           ------------------------------
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TO OUR STOCKHOLDERS, CUSTOMERS, AND EMPLOYEES

     Since mid-summer, the stock market has been volatile amid growing 
concerns about the state of the global and U.S. economies.  Our share 
price has declined substantially even though Mueller's business 
continues to be good.  Historically the housing industry has done well 
when interest rates are low, inflation is low and employment is high.  
These conditions are clearly in evidence today indicating a continuing 
positive environment for our Company.  Obviously, economic conditions 
change, but we remain confident that our business plan is sound for both 
the short- and long-term.

     Mueller earned $18.8 million, or 47 cents per diluted share, in the 
third quarter of 1998.  This represents an increase of 4 percent over 
the $18.1 million, or 46 cents per diluted share, earned in the same 
quarter of 1997.  

     Net income and earnings per share set third quarter records.  This 
is partly due to a favorable closing agreement to a multi-year federal 
tax audit.  That agreement lowered the Company's effective tax rate and, 
we anticipate, will provide benefits in the future.  Operating income 
declined slightly from the third quarter last year as margins contracted 
in certain product lines. 

     Pounds of product sold in the third quarter of 1998 totaled 150.7 
million, an increase of 8 percent over the 140.1 million pounds sold in 
the same quarter of 1997.  Net sales were $212.7 million, compared to 
$229.1 million in the third quarter of 1997.  This decline in net sales 
reflected the drop in the price of copper, from an average of $1.02 per 
pound in the third quarter of 1997, to 75 cents per pound in the same 
quarter of 1998.  As we have previously observed, the selling price of 
many of our products fluctuates with the price of copper.

     Mueller's manufacturing operations performed well during the third 
quarter.  Copper tube had excellent volume and earnings.  Brass rod 
posted solid volume and an increase in profitability versus the same 
period last year, despite competitive price reductions.  Volume at our 
copper fittings operations was good, but spreads narrowed to their 
lowest level since early 1997.  Margins also contracted for our plastic 
fittings operations, resulting in lower profits on a small increase in 
volume.  We see signs of spreads for both copper and plastic fittings 
increasing in the fourth quarter.  Our European operations did not reach 
production quotas.  However, we expect European costs and production to 
improve in 1999 as we concentrate operations into two plants from three.
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     Mueller announced three acquisitions since our last report.  On 
August 10, Mueller announced a definitive merger agreement to acquire 
Halstead Industries, Inc.  Halstead operates a copper tube mill in 
Wynne, Arkansas, and a line sets facility in Clinton, Tennessee, with 
total sales of approximately $250 million in 1997.  Copper tube is an 
important business for Mueller and the acquisition of Halstead should 
allow for economies of scale.  Further benefits should be obtained 
through specialization and balancing production between Halstead's tube 
mill and our own mill in Fulton, Mississippi.  Customers should gain 
from improvements in service and product availability as a result of 
integrated inventory management.  The merger is expected to close before 
year end.

     On August 11, we acquired B&K Industries, Inc.  B&K is an import 
distributor of residential and commercial plumbing products in the 
United States with net sales in excess of $50 million in 1997.  B&K 
sells through all major distribution channels including hardware co-ops, 
home centers, plumbing wholesalers, hardware wholesalers, OEMs, and 
manufactured housing wholesalers.  This acquisition gives Mueller 
exceptional opportunities to increase sales of our existing products in 
the retail channel, which is a large and growing component of the 
plumbing supply business.

     On September 15, we acquired Lincoln Brass Works, Inc.  Lincoln 
produces custom control valve assemblies for the gas appliance market.  
Lincoln had net sales of approximately $35 million in 1997.  Its metal 
fabrication and machining capabilities complement our existing brass 
forging operation.  Lincoln is also a large consumer of brass rod and 



forgings produced by Mueller.

     Looking ahead to 1999, we have an ambitious business plan.  Our 
core operations remain busy, and we expect continued benefits from our 
ongoing capital investment programs.  We are making progress in Europe, 
and expect improvements to the bottom line there next year.  Our new 
copper refinery project in Fulton, Mississippi, remains on schedule for 
the first half of 1999.  And we plan to move rapidly to reap benefits 
from our recent acquisitions. 

Sincerely,

/S/HARVEY L. KARP
Harvey L. Karp
Chairman of the Board

/S/WILLIAM D. O'HAGAN
William D. O'Hagan
President and Chief Executive Officer

October 12, 1998
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<TABLE> 
MUELLER INDUSTRIES, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(In thousands, except per share data)
<CAPTION>
                                                   For the Quarter Ended
                                              September 26,     September 27,
                                                  1998              1997
<S>                                            <C>               <C>
                                                        (Unaudited)

Net sales                                      $  212,746        $  229,133

Cost of goods sold                                163,952           181,376
Depreciation and amortization                       5,650             5,593
Selling, general, and
   administrative expense                          17,692            15,120
                                                ---------         ---------
Operating income                                   25,452            27,044
Interest expense                                   (1,158)           (1,818)
Environmental reserves                                  -            (1,100)
Other income, net                                   1,809             1,661
                                                ---------         ---------
Income before taxes                                26,103            25,787
Income tax expense                                 (7,338)           (7,736)
                                                ---------         ---------

Net income                                     $   18,765        $   18,051
                                                =========         =========

Earnings per share:

Basic:
   Weighted average shares outstanding             35,689            35,015
                                                =========         =========
   Basic earnings per share                    $     0.53        $     0.52
                                                =========         =========

Diluted:
   Weighted average shares outstanding
     Plus assumed conversions                      39,800            39,283
                                                =========         =========
   Diluted earnings per share                  $     0.47        $     0.46
                                                =========         =========
</TABLE>
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<TABLE>
MUELLER INDUSTRIES, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(In thousands, except per share data)
<CAPTION>
                                                 For the Nine-Months Ended
                                              September 26,     September 27,
                                                  1998              1997
<S>                                            <C>               <C>
                                                       (Unaudited)
Net sales                                      $  665,265        $  645,936

Cost of goods sold                                512,927           509,845
Depreciation and amortization                      16,923            15,409
Selling, general, and
   administrative expense                          53,946            45,850
                                                ---------         ---------
Operating income                                   81,469            74,832

Interest expense                                   (3,701)           (4,114)
Environmental reserves                               (600)           (3,100)
Other income, net                                   6,513             4,857
                                                ---------         ---------
Income before taxes                                83,681            72,475
Income tax expense                                (25,941)          (22,327)
                                                ---------         ---------

Net income                                     $   57,740        $   50,148
                                                =========         =========

Earnings per share:

Basic:
   Weighted average shares outstanding             35,338            34,991
                                                =========         =========
   Basic earnings per share                    $     1.63        $     1.43
                                                =========         =========

Diluted:
   Weighted average shares outstanding
     plus assumed conversions                      39,686            39,208
                                                =========         =========
   Diluted earnings per share                  $     1.45        $     1.28
                                                =========         =========
</TABLE> 
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<TABLE> 
MUELLER INDUSTRIES, INC. 
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
(In thousands)
<CAPTION>
                                         Sept. 26, 1998         Dec. 27, 1997
<S>                                      <C>                     <C> 
                                                    (Unaudited) 
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents                $   62,121              $   69,978
Accounts receivable, net                    141,769                 128,902
Inventories                                 117,679                  98,181
Other current assets                         10,175                  11,990
                                          ---------               ---------
  
    Total current assets                    331,744                 309,051
  
Property, plant and equipment, net          294,370                 260,364
Other assets                                 73,169                  41,361
                                          ---------               ---------
  



  
                                         $  699,283              $  610,776
                                          =========               =========
  
  
  
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY  
Current portion of long-term debt        $   18,187              $   18,980
Accounts payable                             34,573                  30,530
Other current liabilities                    66,654                  51,047
                                          ---------               ---------
  
    Total current liabilities               119,414                 100,557
  
Long-term debt                               56,223                  53,113
Other noncurrent liabilities                 38,435                  38,375
                                          ---------               ---------
  
  
    Total liabilities                       214,072                 192,045
  
Minority interest in subsidiaries               390                     691

Stockholders' equity                        484,821                 418,040
                                          ---------               ---------
  
  
                                         $  699,283              $  610,776
                                          =========               =========

</TABLE> 
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<TABLE> <S> <C>
 
<ARTICLE> 5
<LEGEND>
THE SCHEDULE CONTAINS SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION EXTRACTED FROM THE
COMPANY'S FORM 10-Q FOR THE FISCAL PERIOD ENDED SEPTEMBER 26, 1998 AND IS
QUALIFIED IN ITS ENTIRETY BY REFERENCE TO SUCH FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.
</LEGEND>
<CIK> 0000089439
<NAME> MUELLER INDUSTRIES, INC.
<MULTIPLIER> 1,000
       
<S>                             <C>
<PERIOD-TYPE>                   9-MOS
<FISCAL-YEAR-END>                          DEC-26-1998
<PERIOD-END>                               SEP-26-1998
<CASH>                                          62,121
<SECURITIES>                                         0
<RECEIVABLES>                                  145,739
<ALLOWANCES>                                     3,970
<INVENTORY>                                    117,679
<CURRENT-ASSETS>                               331,744
<PP&E>                                         400,130
<DEPRECIATION>                                 105,760
<TOTAL-ASSETS>                                 699,283
<CURRENT-LIABILITIES>                          119,414
<BONDS>                                         56,223
<PREFERRED-MANDATORY>                                0
<PREFERRED>                                          0
<COMMON>                                           401
<OTHER-SE>                                     484,420
<TOTAL-LIABILITY-AND-EQUITY>                   699,283
<SALES>                                        665,265
<TOTAL-REVENUES>                               665,265
<CGS>                                          512,927
<TOTAL-COSTS>                                  512,927
<OTHER-EXPENSES>                                70,869
<LOSS-PROVISION>                                     0
<INTEREST-EXPENSE>                               3,701
<INCOME-PRETAX>                                 83,681
<INCOME-TAX>                                    25,941
<INCOME-CONTINUING>                             57,740
<DISCONTINUED>                                       0
<EXTRAORDINARY>                                      0
<CHANGES>                                            0
<NET-INCOME>                                    57,740
<EPS-PRIMARY>                                     1.63
<EPS-DILUTED>                                     1.45

        


